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Independent auditor’s report to the shareholders of
Maldives Airports Company Limited

Report on the audit of the financial statements

We have audited the financial statements of Maldives Airports Company Limited (the “"Company") and the
consolidated financial statements of the Company and its Subsidiary (the “Group") which comprise the
statement of financial position as of 31 December 2022, and the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements of the Company and the Group give a true and fair
view of the financial position of the Company and Group as at 31 December 2022, and its financial
performance and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs).

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (ISAs). Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International
Ethics Standards Board for Accountants’ Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (including
International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgement, were of most significance in our
audit of the financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our
audit of the financial statements as a whole, and in forming the auditors’ opinion thereon, and we do not
provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit
addressed the matter is provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditors’ responsibilities for the audit of the financial
statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the
performance of procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of
the financial statements. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to
address the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying financial
statements.
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Key audit matters

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

Carrying value of Property Plant and
Equipment and Capital Work in Progress

As at 31 December 2022, Group’s property
plant and equipment and capital work in
progress balances together amounted to MVR
15 Billion and represents 55% of the Group’s
total assets.

This was a key audit matter due to:

e Capitalization of assets amounting to
MVR 9.35 Billion to the relevant asset
classes, which were held in capital work

Our audit procedures included the following key
procedures:

e Checked whether assets commissioned
during the year have been appropriately
transferred from capital work in progress
to the relevant class of property plant
and equipment upon completion of
construction.

e Evaluated the eligibility and
reasonableness of expenditure
capitalized including borrowing costs by
inspecting project feasibility reports,
interim progress certificates, relevant

in progress until such assets are loan agreements and other supporting

available for use. documents.
¢ Management's assessment of the e Assessed whether management has
eligibility and reasonableness  of identified possible indicators  of
o . . impairment including evaluating the
capitalization of expenditure incurred regsonableness o% manag?ement
f’“””g_ the pe_rlod of construction judgements applied and assumptions
including borrowing costs. used.

e Management’s assessment of existence .

. i A3 Assessed the adequacy of related
of impairment indicators.

disclosures made in Notes 2.6.g, 9 and

) 10 to the financial statements.
The Group’s disclosures on property, plant and

equipment are included in Notes 2.6.g, 9 and 10
to the Group’s financial statement.

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements

Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to
continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the
going concern basis of accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Company’s and Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our
opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted
in accordance with ISAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can
arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could
reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken based on these financial
statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgement and maintain
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We are also:



Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to
fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit
evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error,
as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override
of internal control.

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit to design audit procedures that
are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the
effectiveness of the internal control of the Company and Group.

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting
estimates and related disclosures made by management.

Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting
and, based on the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events
or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s
report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate,
to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of
our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue
as a going concern.

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure, and content of the financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events
in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or
business activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements.
We are responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion. We communicate with those charged with governance
regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned
scope and timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that
were of most significance in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore
the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine
that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so
would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

oF
i
e

For and on behalf of Ernst & Young
Partner: Krishna Rengaraj
Licensed Auditor: ICAM-IL-PKC

18 May 2023
Male’


Sanjeevkumar Thangaraj
per


Maldives Airports Company Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

Group Company
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021

Revenue from contracts with customers 3 7,344,132 4,682,382 6,960.697 4,355,570
Cost of sales (4,306,777) (2,201,797) (4.236,673) (2,152,865)
Gross profit 3,037,355 2,480,585 2,724,024 2,202,705
Other income 4 212,529 198,816 200,073 198,523
Administrative expenscs (2,195,050) (1,330,877) (2,031,875) (1,187,380)
Selling and marketing costs (5,525) (5,110) (1,992) (1,071)
Operating profit 1,049,309 1,343,414 890,230 1212,777
Net finance cost 5 (152.608) (79.429) (130,112) (58,715)
Profit before tax from operations 896,701 1,263,985 760,118 1,154,062
Income tax credit / (expense) 6 (178,629) (157,787) (153,407) (141,443)
Profit After Tax 718,072 1,106,198 606,711 1,012,619
Profit attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 679,095 1,074,971 606,711 1,012,619
Non-controlling intcrest 38,977 31,227 - -

7118_1972 1,106,198 606,711 1,01 1'6|9
Other Comprehensive Income
Other Comprehensive that will not be
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent
Gain on Revaluation of Buildings 35,864 16,829 - 16,829
Deffered Tax - on Revaluation of building (5,380) (2,524) - (2,524)
Remeasurement of defined benefit liability 27 (23,460) (23,123) (23,460) (23,123)
Deffered Tax - Remeasurement of defined 26.1 3,519 3.468 3.519 3,468
benefit hability
Other comprehensive (loss)/income for the
year net of tax 10,543 (5,350) (19,941) (5,350)
Total comprehensive income for the year 728,615 1,100,848 586,770 1,007,269
Total comprehensive income attributable to:
Equity holders of the parent 678,969 1,069,621 586,770 1,007,269
Non-controlling interest 49,646 31,227 - -

728,615 1,100,848 586,770 1,007,269
Earnings per share (MVR) 7 453 717 404 675
Basic profit the year attributable to ordinary
cquity holders of the parent
Total comprehensive income (MVR)
Attributable 10 ordinary cquity holders of the 453 713 391 672
pnrcnl
Attributable to Non controlling interest 13 21 - -
Dividend per share (MVR) 8 - - 133 -

The accounting policics and notes on pages 8 to 50 form an integral pant of the financial statements

/ Ernst & Young |
EV Chartered Accountants \
Malé , Maldives \

Reg. No.: 192/95




Maldives Airports Company Limited

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

Assets
Non-current assets
Property, plant and equipment

Capital work-in-progress and capital advances

Investment properties
Grant Asset-land use nght
Right-of-use assets
Intangible assets
Investment in subsidiary
Deferred tax assets

Current assets

Inventories

Trade and other receivables
Assets held for sale

Financial assets at amortized cost
Cash and Bank balances

Total assets

Equity and liabilities
Equity

Share capital

Revaluation reserve

Fair value reserve

Currency translation reserve
Retained eamnings

Non-controlling interest
Total equity

Non-current liabilities
Loans and borrowings
Deferred income

Lease liabilities

Employee retirement benefits obligations

Current liabilities

Loans and borrowings
Trade and other payables
Contract liabilities

Lease liabilities

Business profit tax payable

Total equity and liabilities

The Board of Directors is responsible for these financial statements Signed for and on behalf of the Board by:

Name of the director

Mohamed Umar Manik
Mahjoob Shujau

The accounting policies and notes on pages 8 10 50 form an integral p

18 May 2023
Male'

Group Company
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021

9 10,574,329 2,403,726 9,260,229 2271.7713
10 4,628,783 12,434,059 4,621,425 11,459,152
1 583,215 132,770 583,215 132,770
12 7,405,063 7,602,532 7,405,063 7,602,532
12.2 116,513 116,911 17,992 15,542
13 21,903 18,803 18,832 18,313
14 . Y 1,848 1,848
26 76,167 87,819 68,711 69,828
23,405,973 22,796,620 21,977,315 21,577,758
18 570,376 334914 549,724 316,427
19 2,121,000 1,296,588 2,002,921 1,211,590

17 2,598 - 2,598 -
20 633,118 375,849 561,896 308,107
21 960,115 1,514,303 860,657 1,328,204
4,287,207 3,521,654 3,977,796 3,164,328
27,693,180 26,318,274 25,955,111 24,742,086
22 150,000 150,000 150,000 150,000
23.1 554,972 491,458 535,157 491,458

232 10,386 10,386 - -

233 26,878 26,878 - -
6,888,072 6,839,678 5,977,668 6,001,658
7,630,308 7,518,400 6,662,825 6,643,116

24 515,938 466,292 - -
8,146,246 7,984,692 6,662,825 6,643,116
25 8,225,138 8,424 438 8,225,138 8,424,438
12.1 7,405,063 7,602,532 7,405,063 7,602,532
12.3 192,534 177,429 8,042 6,191
27 347,419 294,590 347,419 294,590
16,170,154 16,498,989 15,985,662 16,327,751
25 1,368,490 784,176 1,368,490 784,176
28 1,786,344 809,717 1,734,442 770,507
29 112,103 58,559 108,213 58,559
12.3 24,709 16,783 10,705 10,231
6.2 85,134 165,358 84,774 147,746
3,376,780 1,834,593 3,306,624 1,771,219
27,693,180 26,318,274 25,955,111 24,742,086

Designation Signature
Chairman e =
CEO & Managing Director

flh“mlﬁiﬂﬂh& Young

EY

Chartered Accountants
Malé , Maldives

Reg. No.: 192/95
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Maldives Airports Company Limited
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are m MVR 000 unless otherwise stated

Group Company
Note 2022 2021 2022 2021
Operating activities
Profit before 1ax from operations 896,701 1,263 985 760,118 1,154,062
Adjustments 1o reconcile profit before tax to net cash
flows:
Depeeciation on property, plant and cquipment b 361,735 240,741 332,389 210375
Depreciation on investment properties 11 14,172 6,307 14,172 6,307
Depreciation of - nght-of-use asset 12 21,219 20,160 11,630 10,665
Depreciation of Grant Asset 197,468 157,468 197.468 197,468
Amortisation of intangible assets 13 5,246 4,789 5,124 4,659
Interest income 5 (15,740) (10,467) (13,197) (7.953)
Interest expenses 52 141,987 65,265 141,987 65,265
Interest expenses on lease liabilitics 5.2 26,362 24,631 1,322 1,403
Loss of di | of rty. pl nd
s of disposal of property, plant and cquipment 56,849 3l 56,849 R
| A
Cost of Residential Apartments Sold 441387 . 441387 i
isi to te
Provision for inventory wnte-off 12,437 . 12.437 .
Impairment loss 04 i . .
Gain on modification of leases 4 (41) (43) (41) (43)
Grant income 4 (197.468) (197,468) (197,468) (197,468)
Allowance for impairment loss on (rade receivables 19 244331 191,661 255.400 168,175
Interest and Current Service cost (Employee retirement 26
benefits obligations) 35,717 30,273 35117 30,273
tin, i
Oieriieg prsfit hefors e iing Sptl Cusnges 2,243,055 1,837,642 2,085.294 1,643,629
Working capital adjustments:
- Inventonies {247,899) (16,760) (245,7135) (5,900)
- Trade and other receivables (1,062,995) (686,448) (1,048,123) (622,708)
- Trade and other payables 561,927 (536,415) 556,375 (564,734)
- Contract liabilites 53,545 (4,566) 49,654 (4,566)
Cash flows from operating activities 1,547,633 563,433 1,367,465 445,721
Business profit tax paid (256,773) (27,001) (219.454) (24,908)
Retirements benefil paid (6.348) (5.725) (6,348) (5.725)
Interest paid 5.2 (134,334) (64,007) (134,334) (64.007)
Net cash flows from operating activities 1,150,177 496,699 1,007,328 351,081
Investing activities
Acquisition of property, plant and cquipment 9 (66,046) (46,242) {64,516) (38,293)
Acquisition of intangiblc asscts 13 (7.824) {4,526) (5.122) (4.503)
Acquisition of Investment properties 11 - (89) - (89)
Cost incurred on construction of capital 11
soodsin-promees (1,687.481) (1.388,860) (1,474.236) (1.195.412)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and 304 1o 104 10
cquipment
Net capital advance recovery 10.2 143,570 163,222 143,570 163,222
Investment/(withdrawn) on fixed deposit 20 73,620 14,929 77.100 (79.143)
Investment in treasury bills 20 (328,788) (228,964) (328,788) (228,964)
Lease extension fee payments = (540) - *
Interest received 13,639 8,425 11,096 5910
Net cash flows used in investing activities (1,859,006) (1.482,535) (1,640,592) (1,377,262)
Financing activities
Proceeds from borrowings 699,081 1,641,385 699,081 1,641,385
Repayment of loans (320,328) (269,140) (320,328) (269,140)
Payment of principal portion of lease habiliy 12.2 (24,112) (22,486) (13,036) (12.055)
Dividend paid 8 (200,000) - (200,000) -
Net cash flows used in financing activities 154,641 1,349,759 165,117 1,360,190
Net increase in cash and cash equivalents (554,188) 363,923 (467.547) 334,009
Cash and cash equivalents as at | January 1514303 1,150,380 1.328.204 994195
Cash and cash equivalents as at 31 December 21 960,115 1,514,303 860,657 1,328,204

The accounting policies and notes on pages 8 to 50 form an integral part of the financial stalements.

"l

=Y

Ernst & Young

Chartered Accountants
Malé , Maldives

Reg. No.: 192/95




Maldives Airports Company Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures arc in MVR '000 unless otherwise staled

1 Corporate information

Maldives Airports Company Limited is a limited liability company incorporated on 1st August 2000 and domiciled in the
Republic of Maldives. The registered office of the Company is located at Male' International Airport, Hulhule’, Republic of
Maldives. The principal activitics of thc company arc maintaining and operating airports and all related activities.

The Government of Maldives (GoM) wholly owns shares of the Company.

The Group consists of the Company's interest in a subsidiary undertaking Maldives In-flight Catering Private Limited, a limited
liability company incorporated and domiciled in thc Republic of Maldives, operating 2 flight kitchen, tounst resont and a transit
hotel in Maldives. The Company owns 65% of authorized and issued share capital of the subsidiary. Information on other related
party relationships of the Group is provided in Note 30.

1.1 Date of authorization for issue

The consolidated financial statements of the Maldives Airport Company Limited and its subsidiaries (collectively, the Group) for
the year ended 31 December 2022 were authorized for issuc on |8 May 2023.

2 Significant accounting policies

(TP

The principal accounti licies applied in the preparation of these consc d financial ts arc sct out below. These

policies have been cons:;lcnuy applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements of Maldives Airports Company Limited and the Group have been prepared in accordance
with International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB). The

consolidated financial statements have been prepared on a historical cost basis, cxcept for Buildings classified under Property,
Plant and Equipment.

2.2 Statement of compliance

The preparation of financial statement in conformity with [FRS requires the use of certain cntical accounling esiimates It also
requires management to exercise its judgment in the process of applying the Group's accounting policies There are no areas
involving a higher degree of judgment or complexity, or arcas where assumptions and estimates are significant

The Group has prepared the financial statements on the basis thal it will continue 1o operate as a going concern

23 New and amended standards and interpretations

The Group has not carly adopted any new dards, interpretations or d that have been issued but are not yet effective
in these financial statements.

Other d and interpr apply for the first time n 2022, but do not have an impact on the Group's financial
statements.

Following dments and interpretations apply for the first ime in 2022, but do not have material  impact on the company's

financial statements.

(i)Reference to the Conceptual Framework — Amendments to IFRS 3

(ii)Property, Plant and Equipment; Proceeds before Intended Use - Amendments to IAS 16 Leases

(iii)[FRS | First-time Adoption of International Fi | Reporting Standards - Subsidiary as a first time adopter

(iv)Onerous Contracts — Costs of Fulfilling a Contract - Amendments to [AS 37 N

(o

/
f

\

¥ Q3gn

/ Ernst & Young
L Chartered Accountants
= Malé , Maldives

Reg. No.: 192/95
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2 Significant i licies continued

s ¥

24  Basis of consolidation

The lidated financial comprise the fi ial of the C
31 December 2022.

pany and is subsidianies as for ihe year ended

Control is achicved when the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has
the ability to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

2.4 Basis of consolidation

Specifically, the Group controls an investee if, and only if, the Group has:
® Power over the investee (i.e., existing rights that give it the current ability to direct the relevant activities of the investee)

® Exposure, or rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee
* The ability to usc its power over the investee to affect its returns

Generally, therc is a presumption that a majority of voting rights results in control. To support this presumption and when the
Group has less than a majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group considers all relevant facts and
circumstances in assessing whether it has power over an investee, including:

® The contractual arrangement(s) with the other vote holders of the investee
* Rights arising from other contractual arrangements
® The Group's voting rights and potential voting rights

The Group re-assesses whether or not it controls an investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one or
more of the three clements of control. Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary
and ceases when the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilities, income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the consolidated financial statements from the date the Group gains control until the
date the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each component of Other Comprehensive Income are attribuied to the equity holders of the parent of the Group
and 10 the non-controlling interests, cven if this results in the non-controlling interests having a deficit balance. When necessary,
adjustments are made to the fi ial of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in line with the Group's
accounting policics. All intra-group assets and liabilitics, equity, income, expenses and cash flows relating 1o transactions between
members of the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

1.5 Accounting under scparate financial statements

Investment in subsidiary is measured at cost less accumulated impairment in the separate financial statements

a) Subsidiaries

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses control
of the subsidiary. Assets, liabilitics, income and expenscs of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year arc included in
the ¢ lidated financial ts from the datc the Group gains control until the date the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

A change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without 2 loss of control, is accounted for as an cquity transaction

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises the related asscts (including goodwill), Labilitics, non- controlling
interest and other components of equity, while any resultant gain or loss is recognized in profit or loss. Any investment retained 1s
recognized at fair value
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2 Significant " Tony "

25  Accounting under scparate financial st inucd

b) Joint arrangements
A joint venture is a rype of joint arrangement whereby the parties that have joint control of the arrangement have nghts 1o the net
assets of the joint venture. Joint control is the contractually agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only when

decisions about the relevant activities require the unanimous consent of the parties sharing control

Interests in joint ventures are accounted for using the equity method (refer (c) below), after initially being recognised at cost in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

¢) Equity method

Under the equity method of acc ing, the ir ts are initially recognised at cost and adjusted thereafter to recognise the
Group's share of the post-acquisition profits or losses of the investee in profit or loss. and the Group's share of movements in
other comprehensive income of the investee in other comprehensive income. Dividends received or receivable from jomnt

ventures are recognised as a reduction in the carrying amount of the investment.

When the Group's share of losses in an equily-accounted investment equals or exceeds its interest in the entity, including any
other unsecured long-term receivables, the Group does not recognise further losses, unless it has incurred obligations or made
payments an behalf of the other entity.

Unrealised gains on transactions between the Group and its joint ventures are climinated to the extent of the Group's interest in
these entities. Unrealised losses are also climinated unless the transaction provides evidence of an impairment of the assct
transferred

The carrying of equity i ts is tested for impairment in accordance with the policy described in note 2.6
(q)

d) Changes in ownership interests

The Group treats transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of conirol as transactions with equity
owners of the Group A change in ownership interest results in an adjusiment between the carrying amounts of the controlling
and non-controlling interests to reflect their relative interests in the subsidiary. Any difference between the amount of the
adjustment to non-controlling interests and any consideration paid or received is recognised in a scparate reserve within equity
anributable to owners of the Company.

2.6  Summary of significant accounting policies
a) Current versus non-current classification

The Group presents asscts and habilitics in the it of fi ial posi based on ¢ urrent classification. An
assel is current when it is:

- Expected to be realised or intended to be sold or consumed in the normal operating cycle

- Held primanily for the purpose of irading

- Expecled fo be realised within twelve months afler the reporting period, or

- Cash or cash equivalent unless restricted from being exchanged or used to settle a liability for at least twelve months after the
All other assets are classified as non-current.

A liability 1s current when:

- Itis expected to be settled in the normal operating cycle

- It is held primarily for the purpose of trading

- Itis due to be settled within twelve months after the reporting period, or

- There is no unconditional right to defer the settlement of the lability for at least twelve months after the reporting period

The terms of the liability that could, at the option of the counterparty. result in 1ls setllement by the 1ssue of equity instrumenis do
not affect its classification. —
The Group classifics all other liabilities as non-current

Deferred tax assets and liabilitics are classificd as non-current assets and habilitics. //
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures arc in MVR "000 unless otherwise stated

2 Significant ing polici inued

2.6  Summary of significant ing policies continued

b) Fair value measurement

The Group measures non-financial assets such as Buildings classified under Property, Plant and Equipment , at fair value al each
Reporting date

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability Lakes place either:

- In the principal market for the asset or liability, or
- In the absence of a principal market, in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability
The principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by the Group.

The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured using the assumptions that market participants would use when pricing the
assct or liability, assuming that market parucipants act in their cconomic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into account a market participant’s ability to generate economic benefits
by using the assel in its highest and best use or by selling it to another markel participant that would use the assel in its highest
and best use.

The Group uses valuation lechniques that arc appropriate in the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the fawr
value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole:

- Level 1 — Quoted (unadjusted) market prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities
- Level 2 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair valuc measurement is directly or
- Level 3 — Valuation techniques for which the lowest level input that is significant to the fair valuc mcasurcment is

For asscts and habiliies that are gnised in the financial statements at fair value on a recurring basis, the Group determines
whether transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by re-assessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input
that is significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of each reporting period.

External valuers are involved for valuation of significant assets, such Buildings classified under Propoerty, plant and equipment
Involvement of external valuers is determined periodically by the company in accordance with the Group's procurement policy

approved by the Board of Directors. Selection critenia include market knowledge, rep P and wheth
professional standards are maintained.

For the purpose of fair value disclosures, the Group has determined classes of assets and liabilities on the basis of the nature,
characteristics and risks of the asset or liability and the level of the fair value hicrarchy, as explained above.

Fair-valuc related discl for non-fi ial assets that arc measured at fair value or where fair values are disclosed, arc
summarised in the following notes:

- Buildings - Note 9
¢) Revenue from contracts with customers

Ramp, passenger, into-plane fuelling and other aviation related services income is recognised at the time the service is provided in
accordance with the terms of the relevant contract. Cargo handling and cargo forwarding revenue 18 recognised at the point of
departure for exports and at the point that the goods arc ready for dispatch for imports, Revenue excludes value added and sales
1axes and charges collected on behalf of customers. .
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
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Significant ac ing polici I

2.6  Summary of significant accounting policies continued
¢) Revenue from contracts with customers continued

The timing of customer billing in relation to the satisfaction of performance obligations results in amounts being recorded in the
Statement of Financial Position for accrued and deferred income. Individual billing arrang ts vary by ¢ r and contract
Accrued income is recognised on contracts for which performance obligations have been satisfied but have not yet been billed to
customers at the Statement of Financial Position date. When the recovery of such amounts becomes unconditional the customer 1s
billed and the amounts are transferred to trade receivables. Deferred income is recognised in respect of payments received from
customers in advance of the Group fulfilling its performance obligations under contracts.

In the distribution business, revenue has been recognised on the despatched value of goods sold, excluding Goods and Services
Tax (GST). Product sold to retailers has been made on a sale or return basis. Revenue for goods supplied with a right of return
has been stated net of the value of returns.

The performance obligation relating to the rendering of services is satisfied when the services are consumed by the customer
Revenue is recognized with reference 1o the time of services are rendered.

Traffic revenue is primarily generated from contracts with airlines for the provision of access 10 terminals, infrastructure, apron
parking, airficld and terminal facilities. Revenue is recognised as the service is provided as follows:

- Navigation charges : On the basis of maximum take-off weight, when the aircraft entered into the Maldives air space.

- Landing charges : On the basis of the particular aircraft rype, when the aircraft lands on the runway
- Aurcraft parking charges: Over the duration of time the aircraft is parked and maximum take-off weight

- Ground handling : On the basis of the particular aircraft type or basis of maximum take-off weight, when the service is
consumed.

Departure control system charges : On the basis of the particular aircraft type, when the service is performed and consumed by
customer,

Other non traffic revenue mainly consists of provision of Fuel Sales, cargo handhng and terminal services, lounge operation
charges, utility sales, rent and lease charges.

- Fuel Sales : On the basis of service is provided

- Lounge utilisation charges : On per passcnger basis as they utilise.

- Cargo income : On the basis of volume handled.

- Utility charges : On the basis of volume consumed by the customer.

Other revenue source of the group mainly consists of proceeds from provision of food. catering, beverage. lodging and other

hospitality industry related activities.

- Revenue from catering, cabin handling and aircraft interior cleaning is recognized at the time of services

- Room revenue is recognized on rooms occupied on a daily basis net of tax. In relation to the sale of food, beverage and
minibar sales, the revenue has been recognized by reference to the time of sales.

- In relation to the income from communication, rental, business center, gym membership revenue, boat operations, spa, shop
rentals and laundry, the revenue has been recognized by reference to the time of service rendered.

Interest income
Interest income is recognized on a ime-proportion basis using the effective interest method
Other revenues earned are recognized on the following basis.

Dividends - shareholders' right 1o receive the payment is established fl
Rental - as it accrues |\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
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Significant ac i Lici inued
S y of significant acc i licies continued

L

¢) Revenue from contracts with customers continued

Consignment commission

The Group sclls souvenir items to the customers on behalf of two consigners. Consignment commission is recognised at the point
in time of delivering the souvenir items to the customer, based on the rate agreed with the pnincipals.

Income is recognized on an accrual basis in accordance with the substance of the relevant contracts.

Concession fees from retail and commercial concessionaires al the airport which are based upon reported revenue and/ or
volumes by concessionaires, taking into account contracted minimum guaraniees prices (variable consideration) only where
applicable. The performance obligation for this revenue stream is the provision of retail unit space 1o a third party for the purposes
of selling goods or providing scrvices to the passengers, in return for a fee, based cither on a fixed rental fee, or a concession fee
bascd on turnover. The revenuc is recognised in the period that the sales occurred, therefore at a point in time.

d) Berrowing costs
General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production of qualifying assets, which

are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time 1o get ready for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those
asscts, until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their intended use or sale

Investment income camed on the temporary investment of specific borrowings pending their expenditurc on qualifying assets is
deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for capitalization.

All other borrowing costs are recognized m profit or loss in the period in which they are mcurred

¢) Government grants

Government grants arc recognised where there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received and all attached conditions
will be complied with. When the grant relates to an exp item, it is gnised as income on a systematic basis over the
periods that the related costs, for which it is intended to comp are exp d. When the grant relates to an asset, it is

recognised as income in equal amounts over the expected useful life of the related asset

When the Group receives grants of non-monetary assets, the asset and the grant are recorded fair value of the asset and released to
profit or loss over the expected useful life of the asset, based on the pattern of consumption of the benefits of the underlying asset

The Group holds a land use right received from the Government of Maldives via a 50 year lease agreement at a nominal value
The same was recognised as a g grant and recognised at fair value. The fair value of land usc right is determined based
on valuation performed by an accredited external independent valuer. Grant asset is depreciated on a straight-line basis over the
leasc term. Refer note 12 for detail disclosure

) Foreign currency translation
(1) Functional and presentation currency
ltems included in the financial statements of each of the Group's entities are measured using the currency of the primary

economic environment in which the entity operates (‘the functional currency’). The consolidated fi | stat ts are pr d
in Maldivian Rufiyaa ("MVR") which is the Group's functional and presentation currency.

(ii) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency Iransactions are lated into the fi | currency using the exchange rates prevailing at the dates of the
transactions. Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the scttlement of such transactions and from the translation at year-
end exchange rates of monctary assets and liabilities denominated in forcign currencies are recognized in the income statement
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures arc in MVR '000 unlcss otherwise stated

2 Significant ting polici tinued
2.6  Summary of significant ti licies continued

g) Property, plant and equipment

All property, plant and equipment, except buildings arc recognised at histoncal cost less accumulated depreciation and
accumulated impairment losses if any. Building is recognised at fair valuc based on periodic valuations by external independent
valuers less subscquent depreciation

Subsequent costs are included in the asset's carrying amount or recognized as a scparate asset, as appropnatc, only when it is
probable that future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured
reliably. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the Statement of Profit or Loss during the financial period in which
they are incurred

Increases in the carrying amounts arising on revaluation of property, plant and equipment are recognised, net of tax, in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in rescrves in sharcholders’ equity. To the extent that the increase reverses a decrease
previously recognised in statement of profit or loss, the i 1s first recognised in of profit or loss. Decreases that
reverse previous increases of the same asset are first recognised in other comprehensive income to the extent of the remaining
surplus altributable 1o the asset; all other decreases are charged to stalement of profit or loss. Each year, the difference between
depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of the asset charged to statement of profit or loss and depreciation based on

the assct's original cost, net of tax, is reclassified from the property, plant and cquipment rev surplus (0 d carnings.

Depreciation is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate thewr cost or revalued amounts, net of their residual valucs,
over their estimated useful lives or, in the case of leased land and buildings constructed therein, the shorter lease term as follows:

Buildings on leasehold land 20 -50 years
Island infrastructure including Jetties, roads, pavements, landscaping and other structures 50 years

Oil store tanks 17 years
Runway, laxiway and apron 25 years
Machinery and equipment 2-10 ycars
Furniture, fittings and fixturcs 3-5 years
Heavy vchicles 10 years
Motor vehicles 10 years
Crockery, cutlery, linen and fabrics 3 ycars
Laundry. kitchen and housckeeping cquipment 5-10 years

An item of property, plant and equipment and any significant part initially recognised is d gnised upon disposal or when no
future economic benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss anising on derecognition of the assel (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset) is included in the statement of profit or
loss when the assct is derecognised.

The assets' residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at each reporting date

An assct's carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if the asset's carrying amount is greater than its
estimated recoverable amount.

h) Investment properties

Investment property are properties held either to earn rental income or for capital appreciation or for both, but not for sale in the
ordinary course of business, use in the production or supply of goods or services or for administrative purposes. Invesiment
properties are measured at cost on initial recognition and subsequently cost less accumulated depreciation

Depreciation on investment propertics is recognized on a straight linc basis over the following estimated useful lives

Buildings on lcaschold land 20 -50 ycars
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2 Significant ing policies continued
2.6  Summary of significant ti licics continued

& P

h) Investment properties continued

Invesiment prop are d either when they have been disposed of or when they are permanently withdrawn from
use and no future economic benefits are expected from their disposal. The difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the assct is recognised in the statement profit or loss in the period of derecognition.

Transfers are made to (or from) investment property only when there is a change in usc. For a transfer from investment property
1o owner occupicd property, the deemed cost for subseq accounting is the fair valuc at the date of change in usc. If owner-

occupied property becomes an investment property, the Group accounts for such property in accordance with the policy stated
under property, plant and equipment up to the date of change in use.

On the disposal of an investment property, the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount 1s charged
or credited to the profit or loss

i) Capital Work in Progress

Capital work-in-progress is stated at cost including all development expenditure and other dircet costs attributable to such projects
and borrowing costs capitalized less any accumulated impairment losses if any. These would be transferred 1o the relevant asset
calegory in property, plant and equipment when the asset is completed and available for use i.e. when it is in the location and
condition necessary for it 10 be capable of operating in the manner intended by management.

j) Non-Current Assets Held for Sale

Non-current assets are classified as held for sale if their carrying amount will be recovered principally through a sale transaction
rather than through continuing usc. This condition is regarded as met only when the asset is available for immediate sale in its
present condition subject only to terms that arc usual and customary for sales of such assect and its sale is highly probable
Management must be committed to the sale, which should be expected to qualify for recognition as a completed sale within one
year fram the date of classification. Non-current assets classified as held for sale are measured at the lower of their carrying
amouni and fair value less costs to sell Property, plant and equipment are not depreciated once classified as held for sale. Assets
classified as held for sale are presented separately as current items in the tof fi | positi

k) Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the first in first out method and
weighted average cost method. Cost of inventory includes purchases, transport and handling costs. Net realizable value is the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business, less the costs of completion and variable selling expenses. Where
necessary, provision is made in the financial statements for obsolete, slow-moving and defective mventory.

Group value its inventory as below;

Cost formulae used Inventory type

FIFO Fuel, spare parts and consumables
Weighted average Duty-free

1) Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or conlains, a lease That 1s, if the contract conveys the nght to
control the use of an identified asset for a period of ime in exchange for consideration.

Group us a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement approach for all leases. excepl for short-term leases and leases of low-

value assets. The Group recognises lease labilities 1o make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the nght to use the

underlying assets T
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Significant ting polici tinued
2.6  Summary of sigoificant ing polici inued
1) Leases continued

i) Right-vf-use assets

The Group recognises right-of-use assets at the commencement date of the lease (i.e., the date the underlying asset is available for
use). Right-of-usc assets are measured at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and adjusted for any
remeasurement of Icase liabilitics. The cost of right-of-use assets includes the amount of leasc liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments madc at or before the commencement date less any leasc incentives reccived. Right-of-use
assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis over the shorter of the lease term and the estimated useful lives of the assets, as
follows:

Leaschold land 30-50 years

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group at the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful hfe of the asset.

The right-of-use assets are also subject to impairment. Refer to the accounting policies in section (q) Impairment of non-financial
assets

i) Lease liabilities

At the commencement date of the lease, the Group recognises lease labilitics measured at the present value of lease payments to
be made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less any lease
incentives receivable, variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected to be paid under residual
value guarantees. The lease payments also include the exercise price of a purchase option reasonably certain to be exercised by
the Group and payments of penalues for ter g the lease. if the lease term reflects the Group exercising the option fo
lerminate.

Variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or a rale are recognised as expenses (unless they are incurred to produce
inventories) in the period in which the event or condition that niggers the payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease commencement date
because the interest rate implicit in the lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement date, the amount of lease
liabilities is increased to reflect the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease pay s made. In addi the carrying
amount of lease liabilitics is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease term, a change in the lease payments (¢.g..
changes to future payments resulting from a change in an index or rate used to determine such lease payments) or a change in the
assessment of an option to purchase the underlying asset.

iv) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the shori-term lease recognition exemption 10 its short-term leases of buildings (1., those leases that have a
lease term of 12 months or less from the commencement date and do not contain  purchase option). Lease payments on short-
term lease are recognised as expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an assct are

classified as operating leases. Rental income arising is accounted for on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included

in revenue in the statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an

operating lease are added 1o the carrying amount of the leased asset and recognised over the lease term on the same basis as

rental income. Contingent rents arc recognised as revenue in the period in which they are camed B e
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2 Significant ting polici inued
2.6 Summary of significant accounting policies inued

m) Intangible assets

Computer software

An Intangible asset is recognised if it 1s probable that future cconomic benefit associated with the assets will flow to the Group
and cost of the assct can be rcliably measured. Intangible asscts acquired scparatcly arc measurcd on initial recognition at cost
The costs of intangible assets acquired in a business combination are their fair value as at the date of acquisition

Costs associated with maintaining computer software programmed are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs
that are dircctly anributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique software products controlled by the Group arc
recognized as intangible assets when the required criteria are met

Other development expenditures that do not meet the required critena are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development
costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent pernod,

Amortisiation is recognized in Statement of Profit or Loss on a straight line basis over the estimated useful lives of Intangible
Assets, from the date on which they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative period arc as
follows:

Computer software 10 years

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal (i.e., at the date the recipient obtams control) or when no future economic
benefits are expected from its use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising upon derccognition of the asset (calculated as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount of the assct) is included in the statement of profit or loss.

n) Contract Liabilities

A contract liability is the obligation to transfer goods or services to a cusiomer for which the Group has received consideration (or
an amount of consideration is due) from the customer. If a customer pays consideration before the Group transfers goods or
services to the customer, a contract liability is recognised when the payment is made or the payment is due (whichever is carlier)
Contract liabilitics are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the contract.

o) Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group asscsses at cach reporting date, whether there is an indication that an assct may be impaircd. If any indication cxists,
or when annual impairment testing for an asset is required, the Group estimates the asset’s recoverable amount. An asset’s
recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s or CGU’s fair value less costs of disposal and its value in use. The recoverable
amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those
from other assets or groups of assets. When the carrying amount of an asset or CGU exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is
considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount
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Significant ing policies inued
Summary of significant accounting policies continued
o) Impairment of non-financial assets continued

In assessing valuc in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present valuc using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of moncy and the risks specific 1o the asset. In determining fair value less
costs of disposal, recent market transactions are taken into account. If no such transactions can be identificd, an appropriate
valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded
comp or other available fair value indicators.

The Group bases ils impairment calculation on most recent budgets and forecast calculations, which are prepared separately for
each of the Group's CGUs to which the individual assets are allocated. These budgets and forecast calculations generally cover a
period of five years. A long-term growth rate is calculated and applied to project future cash flows after the fifth year.

Impairment losses of continuing operations are recognised in the of profit or loss in expense categories consistent with
the function of the impaired asset, excepl for properties previously revalued with the revaluation taken to OCI. For such
properties, the impairment is recognised in OCI up to the amount of any previous revaluation.

p) Financial instr — initial r ition and sub measu|

(4 49

A financial instrument is any contract thal gives rise to a financial assel of one enlity and a financial hability or equity instrument
of another entity

Financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets arc classified, at initial rccognition, and subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other
comprehensive income (OCI), and fair value through profit or loss

The classification of financial assets al initial recognition depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow characteristics and
the Group's business model for ging them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient, the Group initially measures a financial asset at its fair
value plus, in the case of a financial assct not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade receivables that do not
contain a significant financing component or for which the Group has applied the practical expedicnt are measured at the
transaction price determined under IFRS 15. Refer to the accounting policies in section (d) Revenue from contracts with
customers.

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at amortised cost or fair value through OCI, it needs to give rise to cash
flows that are ‘solely payments of principal and interest (SPPI)" on the principal amount « ding This is referred
to as the SPPI test and is performed at an instrument level

The Group's business model for managing financial assets refers to how 1t manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both.

Purchases or sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within a ime frame established by regulation or convention in
the market place (regular way trades) arc recognised on the trade date, i.c., the datc that the Group commits to purchasc or sell the
asset

Subsequent measurement

For purposes of subsequent measurement, financial assels are classified in four calegories:

* Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

* Financial assets at fair value through OCI with recycling of cumulative gains and losses (debt instruments)

* Financial asscts designated at fair value through OCI with no recycling of cumulative gains and losses upon derccognition
* Financial asscts at fair value through profit or loss

/gﬂ Ernst & Young
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Maldives Airports Company Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise staied

2 Significant ing policics continued
26  Summary of significant accounting policies continued
p) Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent measurement continued

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

This category is the most relevant to the Group. The Group measures financial asscts at amortised cost if both of the following
conditions are met:

* The financial asset is held within a business model with the objective 1o hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows
And

* The contractual lerms of the financial asset give nse on specified dates to cash flows that are solely payments of principal and
interest on the principal amount outstanding

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured using the effective interest (EIR) method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.

The Group's financial assets at amortised cost includes trade receivables, investments in fixed deposits and treasury bills included
under Financial assets al amortized cost

Derecognition

A financial asset (or, where applicable, a part of a financial asset or part of a Group of similar financial assets) is primarily
derecognised (1.¢., removed from the Group's consohidaled statement of financial position) when:

The rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired
Or

The Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the reccived cash
flows in full without material delay to a third party under a ‘pass-through’ arrangement; and either (a) the Group has
transferred substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor retained
substanually all the risks and rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the asset

When the Group has transferred its nghts to receive cash flows from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement, 1t
evaluates if. and 10 whal exient, it has retained the risks and rewards of ownership. When it has neither transferred nor retained
substantially all of the risks and rewards of the asset, nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to recognise the
transferred assct to the extent of its continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises an associated liability. The
transferred assct and the associated liability arc measured on a basis that reflects the rights and obligations that the Group has
retained,

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over the transferred asset i1s measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group applics a simplificd approach in calculating ECLs for trade reccivables and contract assets. Therefore, the Group does
not track changes in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance bascd on lifetime ECLs at cach reporting date. The Group
has cstablished a provision matrix that is based on ns historical credit loss experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the deblors and the economic environment

T

“
A )
i\ 2

A financial asset is wniten ofT when there is no reasonable expeciation of recovering the contractual cash flows

/
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
All figurcs arc in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

Significant ing policies continued
Summary of significant accounting policies continued
p) Financial instruments — initial recognition and subsequent ement continued

Financial liabilities

Initial recognition and

Financial liabilities are classified. at initial recognition, as financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and borrowings,
payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging instruments in an cffective hedge, as appropniate

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and. in the case of loans and borrowings and payabies. net of directly attributable
transaclion costs

The Group's financial liabilities include trade and other payables. loans and borrowings and lease hiabilities
Subsequent measurement

The measurement of financial liabilities depends on their classification, as described below:

Loans and borrowings

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings arc subscquently measured at amortised cost using the EIR
method. Gains and losses arc recognised in statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the liabilitics are
derecognised as well as through the EIR amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that arc an integral
part of the EIR. The EIR amortisation is included as finance costs in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income. This catcgory generally applics to interest-bearing loans and borrowings.

De-recognition

Financial liability is de-recognised when the obligation under the liability is discharged or cancelled or expires When an existing
financial liability is replaced by another from the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of an existing liability
are substantially modified, such an exchange or modification is treated as the de-recognition of the original liability and the
recognition of a new liability. The difference in the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income

q) Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and short-term deposits in the statement of financial position comprise cash al banks and on hand and short<erm highly
liquid deposits with a maturity of three months or less, that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and subject 10 an
insignificant nsk of changes in value.

For the purposc of the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents consist of cash and short-term deposits, as
defined above, net of outstanding bank overdrafts as they are considered an integral part of the Group's cash management

r) Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events; it is probable
that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are
not recognized for future operating losscs.

Where there are 2 number of similar obligations, the likclihood that an outflow will be required in settlement 1s determined by
considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized cven if the likelibood of an outflow with respect to any
one item included in the same class of obligations may be small.

/g Ernst & Young
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
All ligures arc in MVR '000 unless otherwise staied

2 Significant accounting policies continued
1.6 Summary of significant accounting policies continued
r) Provisions continued

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation using a rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the obligations

s) Current and deferred business profit tax

The tax expenses for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized directly in equity.

The current t1ax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date
Manag periodically cvaluates positions taken in tax computation with respect to situations in which applicable tax
regulation is subject to interpretation. [t establishes provisions where appropriate on the basis of amounts expected to be paid 1o
the tax authorities

The Group is liable to Income Tax at rate of 15% (2021 - 15%), if the taxable profit of the year exceeds MVR 500,000,

Deferred tax is recognized, using the lability hod, on porary differences ansing between the tax bases of assets and
labilities and their carrying ts in the fi |

s. However deferred tax is not accounted for if it anises from initial
recognition of an asset or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects
neither accounting nor taxable profit or loss. Deferred tax is determined using tax rates that have been enacted or substantally
cnacted by the reporting date and are expected 1o apply when the related deferred tax asset is realized or the deferred tax hability
1s settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be available against which the
temporary difference can be utilized

Deferred tax assets and liabilities arc offset when there is a legally enforceable night to offsct current tax asscts against current tax
liabilities and when the deferred tax assets and liabilitics relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on cither the
same taxable cntity or different taxable entities where there s an intention 1o scttle the balances on a net bhasis

t) Employee benefits
Short-term obligations

Liabilities for wages and salaries. including non-monetary benefits and annual leave that are expecied o be setiled wholly within
12 months afier the end of the period in which the employees render the related service are recognised in respect of employees’
services up to the end of the reporting period and arc measured at the amounts expected to be paid when the habilities are scttled
The libilitics are presented as other payables in the Statement of Financial Position

Deferred remuneration

The Maldives Airport Company Limited has constructed the apantments and sold to employees with a payment plan for 20 years
and retains the legal title as protection against employees” failure to pay The difference between the discounted cash receipts of
the asset and the cost of the apartment is deferred and amortized over a lower period of,

()deferred payment plan

(ii)employee retirement, resignation and fully settlement;

Defined contribution plan

A defined contribution plan is a post-cmployment benefit plan under which the Group pays fixed contributions to Maldives

Government pension scheme and will have no legal or constructive obligation 1o pay further amounts. Both cmployer and

employee contribute 7% to this scheme of such cmployees’ pensionable wage. Employers' obligation for contribution 1o pension

scheme is recognised as an employee benefit expense in the income statement 1n the periods during which services are rendered

by employees. All Maldivian employees of the Group are members of the retirement pensy h blished in the Maldives
e

7
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Maldives Airports Company Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures arc in MVR 000 unless otherwise stated

1 Significant ing polici R
2.6 Summary of significant a ti lici to
t) Employee benefits continued

Defined benefit plans

Defined bencefit plans i1s an amount of benefit that an employee reccive on retirement, usually dependent on one or more factors
such as age, completed years of service and compensation. The Group's net obligation in respect of defined benefit plans arc
calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that cmployees have camed in return for their service in the current and
prior penods and discounting that t to determine its p value. Discounting was done by using the Maldives
Government treasury bills interest rate as there is no deep corporate bond market in Maldives.

The interest cost is calculated by applying disc g rate 1o the opening balance of the defined benefit obligations. This cost is
included in employce benefit expense in the statement of statement of profit or loss.

are rec d in the

4

Remcasurement gains and losses arising from experience adjustments and changes in actuarial p
period in which they occur, directly in other comprehensive income. They are included in retained earnings in the statement of
changes in equity and in the statement of financial position.

Changes in the present value of the defined benefit obligation resulting from plan or curtail are gnised
immediately in profit or loss as past service costs.

u) Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Group's shareholders are recognized as a liability in the Group's financial statements in the period in
which the dividends are approved by the Group's shareholders.

v) Fair value estimation

The nominal valuc less impairment provision of trade receivables and payables are assumed to approximate their fair values The
fair value of financial liabilitics for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the current
market interest rate that is available to the Group for similar financial instruments.

w) Comparatives
Accounting policies and comparative figures are consistent with the previous year except for the reclassification as shown below
Reclassification - Company As  previously Reclassification  As reclassified
presented
MVYR'000 MVR'000 MVR'000
Grant Assct-land usc nght - 7,602,532 7,602,532
Right-of-usc asscts 7,719,442 (7,602,532) 116911

Trade and Other Receivables (Note 19)
- Advances and Prepayments 422,955 (6,184) 416,771

Trade and Other Payables (Note 28)

- Other payables 479919 (105,680) 374239

Loans and Borrowings (Note 25)

- Current 680,021 104,155 784,176

- Non- Current 8,429,097 (4.660) 8,424,438 P
!,
\
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwisc stated

2
2.6

2.7

Significant accounting policies continued
Summary of significant accounting policics continued
w) Comparatives continued

Reclassification - Group As previously Reclassification  As reclassified
presented
MVR'000 MVR'000 MVR'000
Grant Assct-land use right - 7,602,532 7,602,532
Right-of-use assets 7,719,442 (7.602,532) 116,911

Trade and Other Reccivables (Note 19)

- Advances and Prepayments 692,759 (6.184) 686,575
Trade and Other Payables (Note 28)

- Other payables 992,159 (105,680) 886,479
Loans and Borrowings (Note 25)

- Current 680,021 104,155 784,176
- Non- Current 8429097 (4,660) 8,424 438

*The transaction costs for certain loans incurred by the company which have been recognised under trade and other
receivables in 2021 have been reclassified and included within the carrying amount of the respective loans. Further, the
inlerest payable which have been recognised under wrade and other payables in 2021 have been reclassified and included
within the carrying amount of the respective loans.

Standards issued but not yet effective
The new and amended standards and interpretations that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Group's
financial statements are disclosed below. The Group intends to adopt these new and amended standards and interpretations, if
applicable, when they become effective.

Amendments to IAS 1: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current

In January 2020, the IASB issucd amendments to paragraphs 69 to 76 of IAS | to specify the requiremenis for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments clarify:

® What is meant by a right 1o defer settlement
® That a right to defer must exist at the end of the reporting period

® That only if an embedded derivative in a convertible liability s itself an equity instrument would the terms
of a liability not impact its classification

The amendments are cffective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after | January 2023 and must be applied
retrospectively. The Group is currently assessing the impact the amendments will have on current practice and whether existing
loan agr may iati

quire g ] e
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Significant accounting policies continucd
Standards issued but not yet effective continued

Definition of Ac ting Estimates - A d tolAS 8

In February 2021, the IASB issued amendments to 1AS 8. in which it introduces a definition of ‘accounting estimates’'. The
amendments clanify the distinction between changes in acc g esti and changes in accountmg policics and the
correction of errors. Also, they clanify how use nt techni and inputs to develop accounting estimates.

4

The amendments are cffective for annual reporting periods beginning on or afier | January 2023 and apply to changes in
accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or after the stant of that period. Earlier application is
permitted as long as this fact is disclosed.

Disclosure of Accounting Policies - Amendments to IAS | and IFRS Practice Statement 2

In February 2021, lhc IASB issucd amendments to [AS | and IFRS Practice S 2 Making Matcriality jud ts, in
which it provides g and cxamples to help ies apply materiality judgements to accounting policy dlsckmm:s The
amendments aim to help cntitics provide accounting policy disclosures that are more uscful by replacing the requirement for
entities to disclose their ‘significant’ accounting policies with a requirement to disclose their ‘material’ accounting policies and
adding guidance on how entities apply the concept of materiality in making decisions about accounting policy disclosures. The
amendments 10 IAS | are applicable for annual periods beginning on or afler | January 2023 with earlier application permitied.
Since the amendments to the Practice Statement 2 provide non-mandatory guidance on the application of the definition of
material to accounting policy information, an effective date for thesc amendments is not necessary.

The Group is currently revisiting their acc ing policy information disch 10 ensurc consistency with the amended
requirements.

Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction - Amendments to [IAS 12

In May 2021, the Board issucd amendments 10 IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition cxception under IAS 12,
so that it no longer applies to transactions that give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. The amendments
should be applied to transactions that occur on or afier the beginning of the carliest comparative period presented. In addition, at
the beginning of the earliest comparative period presented, a deferred tax asset (provided that sufficient taxable profit is available)
and a deferred tax liability should also be recognised for all deductible and Laxable temporary difTerences associaled with leases
and decommissioning obligations.

Th amendmenis are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 01 January 2023. The Group does not expect this will result
in a material impact on its Financial Statement,

Use of estimates and judg

The preparation of financial statements requires the use of accounting estimates which, by definition, will seldom equal the actual
results. Management also needs to exercise judgement in applying the group's accounting policies.

This note provides an overview of the areas that involved a higher degree of judgement or complexity. Detailed information about
cach of these estimates and judgements is included in other notes together with information about the basis of calculation for cach
affected line item in the financial statements. The areas involving significant estimates or judgements are:

- Loss allowance for expected credit losses - note 2.6(r), 19.1 and 192

- Estimated useful life of property plant and equipment - note 2.6(g) and 9

- Estimation i and judg made in employee retirement benefits - note 2 6(t) and 27
< E n uncertainties and jud ts made in relation to lease accounting - note 2.6(1) and 12.2
- Estimation of fair valucs of bmldlng; note 2.4(h) and note 9

- Estimation unc ics and jud; made in deferred staff cost 2.6 (1)

Other disclosures relating to the Group’s exposure to risks and uncertainties includes:
- Financial nsk factors and policics - note 32.1 /
- Capital risk management 32.2 =1
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures arc in MVR ‘000 unless otherwise stated

3 Revenue from contract with customers

3.1 Disaggregated Revenue Information

(a) Types of Goods or Services

Traffic revenue
Landing fcc

Parking fee

Navigation fce

Giround handling charges
Departing charges

Non traffic revenue

Fuel sales

Salc of residential apartments
Duty-free sales

Rent and lease charges
Cargo mncome

Utility sales

Lounge income
Consignment comnussion
Revenue share
Miscellaneous income
Passenger related charges

Other revenue sources

Room revenue

Cabin handling

Catering

Food and beverages

Miscellaneous income

Total revenue

(b) Timing of the revenue recognition
Transferred at point in tme

Transferred at point over the time
Total Revenue

3.2 Coantract balances

Trade Receivable (Note 19)
Contract Liabilitics (Note 29)

4 Other income
Exchange gain
Sundry income

Gain on lease modifications
Grant income

s Net finance cost

5.1 Finance income

Interest income from investment on treasury. bills

Interest income frum fixed deposits

5.2 Finance cost

Bank loan inicrest
Interest Expense on Lease Liabilities

Net finance cost

Group Company
2022 021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
298,167 228976 298,167 228,976
80,229 92,171 80,229 92,17
87,743 63,906 87,743 63,906
608,859 461315 608,859 461,315
62,607 47,459 62,607 47,459
1,137,604 893,827 1,137,604 893,827
4,160,746 22388712 4,161,699 2.239.431
315,522 - 315,522 -
465,400 184,248 465.400 384,248
179,318 94,859 189,779 105,556
194,910 181,025 196,557 182,395
48,259 55,943 86,221 91,492
219,297 183,086 219,297 183,086
128,432 198,457 128,432 198,457
24,201 48,959 24,201 48,959
26,848 21,696 26,875 21,735
9,109 6,383 9.109 6,383
5.772.063 3.413,530 5.823,093 3.461,743
78,812 61,254 - .
61,129 47,847 %
254,251 239,756 - -
38,795 24,600 - -
1,478 1,567 - -
434,465 375,025 - -
134,132 4$8388 6960697 4355570
5,753.467 3451416 5,436,757 3,173,793
1,590,665 1,230,966 1,523,940 1.181,777
7,344,132 4,682,382 6,960,697 4,355,570
1,126,163 551,062 1,083,710 517,539
112,103 58,559 108,213 58.559
Group Company
2022 1021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
1.461 762 1.515 877
13,558 544 1,049 136
41 43 4] 43
197.468 197,468 197,468 197,468
212,529 198,816 200,073 198,523
Group Company
022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
(11,486) (3.875) (11,486) (3.875)
(4,255) (6,592) (L,711) (4,078)
(15.740) (10.467) (13.197) (7.953)
141,987 65,265 141,987 65,265
26,361 24.631 1,322 1,403
168,348 89,896 143,308 66,668
152,608 9429 130,112 58,715
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
6 Business profit tax expense
Current tax 176.549 170.821 156,483 170.821
fe 1 i i
Deferred tax recognized during the year ( Note 26.1) 2,080 (13,034) (3,075) (20.378)
Business profit tax expenses reported in the Statement of Profit or
Loss 178,629 157,787 153,407 141,443
6.1 Business profit tax on profit
Government of Maldives has enacted the [ncome Tax Act on 04 December 2019 and income tax has been calculated at 15% (2021-15%) on the
taxable profit for the year ended in accordance with the Income Tax Act No. 25/2019. A reconciliation between tax expense and the product of
accounting profit multiplied by Maldives's domestic tax rate for the year ended 31 December is as follows:
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Profit before tax 896,701 1,263,985 760,118 1,154,062
Loss of subsidiary which is not subject to tax - (109,924) -
Add: T t 5
ax effect on expenses not allowed for tax purposc 280,793 (15.006) 283,349 (15.006)
Taxable profit 1,177,494 1,139,056 1,043 467 1,139,056
Less: utilized tax free allowance (500) (250) (250) (250)
Taxable profit for the year 1,176,994 1,138.806 1,043,217 1,138,806
Business profit tax on taxable profit @ 15% 176,549 170,821 156,483 170,821
Tax charged to Profit or Loss __176,549 170,821 156,483 170,821
6.2  Business profit tax payable / (recoverable)
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
As at | January 165,358 1,833 147,746 1.833
Tax charge for the year 176,549 188,433 156,483 170,821
Tax paid during the year (256,773) (24,908) (219.454) (24,908)
As at 31 December 85,134 165,358 84,774 147,746
7 Earnings per share
Basic camnings per share is calculated by dividing the profit attributable to equity helders of the Company by the weighted average number of
ordinary shares in issue during the year
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
. ) 679,095 1,074,971 606,711 1,012,619
Profit attributable to equity holders of the group/company
Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issuc 1,500 1.500 1,500 1,500
Basic eamings per share (MVR) 453 717 404 675
8 Dividends

At the annual general meeting held on 30 June 2022, a final dividend of MVR 405.04 per share amounting to MVR 607,560,000 - (2021: MVR
57.840,000/-) was declared in respect of 2021 to the Government of Maldives, which has been accounted as appropriation of profit in the

statement of changes in cquity during the year.

The company paid MVR 200,000,000 - as dividends from the declared amount to the Government of the Maldives. As at 31 December 2022,

unpaid balance of MVR 537,508,709 is recorded as a payable to the Government =

P

Dividend per share is MVR 133 - (2021-Nil) /
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Maldives Airports Company Limited
NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

10.2

Capital work in progress and Capital advances
Capital work in progress

As at 01 January

Additions during the year

Transfer to property, plant and equipment (Note 9)
Transfer to investment properties (Note | 1)
Transfer to intangible asscts (Note 13)

Residential apartments sold

Residential apartments transferred to held for sale
Impairment loss on capital work in progress

As at 31 December

Capital work-in-progress at the year-end comprises of:

New runway, fuel farm and cargo terminal
New intcrnational passenger terminal
Fuel farm development

Provision of electricity to new development areas
New sea plane terminal

Auxiliary projects

Development of Madifushi resort project
Residential apartments - HIY A project

Other projects

Capital advance

Capital advance for development projects

New runway, fuel farm and cargo terminal
Auxihary projects

New international passenger terminal
Residential apartments - HIY A project
Other projects

Summary

Capital work in progress
Capital advance

Total

Capitalised Borrowing Cost

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
12,118,790 10,807,584 11,143,882 10,026,124
1,687.481 1,388,860 1,474,236 1,195412
(8,439,582) (76,854) (7.261.720) (76,854)
(462,167) - (462.167) -
(2,760) (B00) (522) (800)
(441,387) - (441,387) -
(2,598) & (2,598)
(694) a s “
4,457,083 ILLISJ00 4449725 11143882
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
1,302.976 7,086,805 1,302,976 7,086,805
2,248 554 1,621,127 2,248 554 1,621,127
65,221 54,095 65,221 54,095
293239 291,659 293,239 291,659
39,709 1,020,558 39,709 1,020,558
- 350,375 - 350,375
- 970.119 - -
- 397,953 - 397,953
507.383 326,099 500,026 321311
4,457,083 12,118,799 4,449,728 11,143,882
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
224 106,312 224 106,312
13,043 14,505 13,043 14,505
158,216 184,416 158,216 184,416
77 9,897 77 9.897
140 140 140 140
171,700 315270 171,700 315,270
4,457,083 12,118,790 4,449,725 11,143,882
171,700 315,270 171,700 315,270

— 4628783 12434059 4621425 11459,152

During the year, the Group has capitalised borrowing costs amounting to MVR 223,295,028 (2021: MVR 246,135,877) on qualifying assets.
The borrowings are meant to fund specific projects and the interest percentage and borrowing cost capitalised are as follows;

Rate of
Project interest
New runway, fuel farm 3%
and cargo terminal 5%
New international passenger 3%
Terminal 5.7%
New sca planc terminal 29%

Total

31

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

MVR MVR MVR MVR
139,716 164,683 139,716 164,683
- 6,166 - 6,166
139,716 170,848 139.716 170.848
40,444 33,226 40,444 33,226
22,607 17,497 22,607 17,497
63,051 50,723 63,051 50,723
20,528 24,564 20,528 24,564
20,528 24,564 20,528 24,564
22395 246136 223295 246,136
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are :n MVR ‘000 unless otherwise stated

11 Investment properties Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Movement for the year
Balance as at | January 132,770 138 988 132,770 138,988
Transfer from CWIP (Note 10.1) 462,167 89 462,167 89
Transfer from PPE (Notc 9) - Carrying Valuc 2,449 - 2449 -
Depreciation charge (14,172) (6,307) (14,172) (6.307)
Balance as at 31 December 583,215 _‘1'.2471! 583,215 132,770
Summary of balances
Cost 632,405 160,440 632,405 160,440
Accumulated depreciation (49,190) (27,670) (49,190) (27,670)
Balance as at 31 December 58_32]5 132,770 583,215 132,770
Income earned from Investment Property
The rental income from and direct exp n rel i properties are as follows;
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Rent income 95,045 72,205 95,045 72.205

There is no material direct expenses specifically attributable to the rental income since ancillary services related costs
arc being recovered through other revenuc streams.

12 Grant Asset- Land use right Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
Cost MVR MVR MVR MVR
Al |st January 7,800,000 7,800,000 7,800,000 7,800,000
Additions during the year - = . e
At 315t December 7,800,000 7,800,000 7,800,000 7,800,000
Accumulated Depreciation
At It January (197,468) - (197,468) -
Charge dunng the year (197,468) (197,468) (197,468) (197,468)
At 315t December (394,937) (197,468) (394,937) (197,468)
Net carrving value at 31 December 7,405,063 1,“_&'532 7,405,063 7,602,532
12.1  Deferred income Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
At st January 7,602,532 7,800,000 7,602,532 7,800,000
Recognition of Grant income on initral valuation of the leaschold . - .
rights
Transfer to profit and loss duning the year (197,468) (197.468) (197,468) (197,468)
At 3151 December L_“S‘!‘J T‘Qyn 7,405‘._6_3 'I‘GIIHSJZ

The fair value estimation of the leasehold rights of the land of MVR 7,800,000,000 recognized at 31 December 2020. Fair value was determined by using
residual valuation basis The valuation has been performed by the valuer and are based on present use is arrived on the net free cash flow based on profits
method. As at the date of valuation on 31 December 2020, the properties’ fair valucs arc bascd on valuations performed by Maldives Valuers Pvt Lid., a
chartered independent valuer. The gain from valuation of the lease has been recorded as grant income

12.2  Right of use asset Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
Cost MVR MVR MVR MVR
At |st January 171,548 137812 48918 39.569
Modifications during the year 5,066 30,166 5,066 6,319
Additions durning the year 9,015 3,570 9,015 3,030
At 315t December 185,629 171,548 q,m 48918
Accumulated Depreciation
At Ist January (54,638) (34.477) (33.376) (22,711)
Charge during the ycar (14.478) (20.160) (11,630) {10,665)
At 31st December (69.116) (54.638) (45,007) (33,376)
Net carrving value at 31 December 116,513 116,911 17,992 15,542

32
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures arc in MVR 000 unlcss otherwise stated

12.3  Lease liabilities

Al 1sl January

Recognitions duning the year
Modification during the Year
Interest charge during the year
Payments made duning the year
Balance as at 31 December
Matunty analysis

Current

Non-current

Less than 3
months

Maturity analysis

2022
2021

13 Intangible assets

Movement for the year

Balance as at | January
Additions duning the year
Transfer from CWIP (Note 10.1)
Amortization charge

Balance as at 31 December

Summary of balances

Cost

Accumulated amortisation
Balance as at 31 December

14 Investment in subsidiary

At 31 December

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
194,213 158,914 16,423 17,768
9.015 3,030 9.015 3,030
5,024 30,124 5,024 6,276
22.662 24,631 1,322 1,403
(13.672) (22 ,486) (13,036) (12,055)
217,243 194.213 18,747 16,423
24,709 16,783 10,705 10,231
192,534 177,429 8.042 6.191
217,243 194,213 18,747 16,423
Between 3 months Between | to Between 2 to More than § Years
and | Year 2 Years 5 Years
11,595 12,325 8,596
9,243 5,666 2930 -
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
e MVE - NVE MVR MVR
18,803 18,266 18,313 17,670
5.586 4,526 5122 4,503
2,760 800 522 800
(5,246) 4,789) (5.124) (4,659)
21,903 18,803 IEJ! 18,313
61,347 53,001 56,307 50,664
(39.444) (34,198) (37.475) (32,351)
21,903 18,803 18,832 18,313
Company
022 2021
MVR MVR
1,848 1,848

The details of the subsidiary at 31 December 2022 is set out below. The share capilal of the subsidiary consisuing solely of ordinary shares that
are held directly by the Group, and the proportion of ownership interests held equals the voting rights held by the group

Ownership Ownership
e [ Country®interestheld by interest held by  Priacipal activity
Name of the entity - the group 2022 _the group 2021
Operaunga Might
Maldives In-flight Catering Private Limited Maldives 65% 65% kitchen, tounst

resort and transit

hotel

Sct out below is summarised financial information of the Company’s investment in Maldives In-light Catering Private Limited. The amounts

disclosed are before inter-company eliminations.

< Sy of fi PR
Current assels

Current liabilities

Net current asscts

Non-current assets
Non-current liabilities
Net non-current net asscls

Total net assets

Accumulated NCI

Summarised statement of comprehensive income
Revenue

Profit / total comprehensive income for the year
Profi allocated 1o NCI

Summarised cash flows

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash flows uscd in invesling acuvitics
Cash flows used in financing activities
Net decrease in cash flows

-33-

2022 2021
337,276 392,312
(98,022) (98,380)
239,255 293,952
1,457,112 1,254,057
(222.259) (215.746)
1,234,853 1,038312
1,474,108 1,332,263
515,938 466,292
434 465 375,025
35,864 =
49,646 31,227
143,048 141.259
(218,414) (100,914)
(11,076)
(86,442)

=z Ernst & Young
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

15 Investment in joint venture Group/Company
2022 2021
MVR MVR
Airport Investments Maldives Private Limited 5,000 5,000
Allowance for written off (5,000) (5,000)
At 31 December - -

The Company hold 33.33% interest in Airport Investments Maldives Private Limited, a jointly controlled entity which was
mandated to develop airports, lease, operate or manage tourist resorts and carry on all aspects of business connected with
airport and tourist resort operations either by directly providing the services or by contracting the provision of services to
third parties.

Currently there is no operation in the Company and remains dormant.

The Board of Directors has decided to impair the investments in Airport Investments Maldives Private Limited since
material uncertainties exist which cast significant doubt about the ability of the companies to continue as a going concern.

16 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FVOCI)

17

Group/Company
2022 2021
MVR MVR
Addu Intemnational Airport Private Limited 32,000 32,000
Allowance for written off (32,000) (32,000)

The Company initially acquired 20,000 shares which represented 32.26% of the issued share capital of Addu International
Airport Private Limited, an entity involved in the development of airports, tourist resorts, and carry on all aspects of
business connected with airports and tourist resort operations either by directly providing the services or by contracting the
provision of services to third parties. On 1 January 2013, the investee Company issued 118,000 shares to other shareholders
diluting the shareholding of MACL to 10%. The Company has recognised the investment at cost in consolidated financial
statements resulting from the loss of control.

During the year ended 31 December 2017, MACL has invested MVR 12,000,000 as the call up equity according to the
shareholdings of the Company.

These investments in equity instruments are not held for trading and therefore the group has made an irrevocable election at
the date of initial implementation of IFRS-9 to account for these equity investments at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI).

The Board of Directors has decided to impair the Addu International Airports Company Limited since material uncertainties
exist which cast significant doubt about the ability of the companies to continue as a going concern after an impairment
assessment based on the future cash flows.

Assets held for sale Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Movement for the year
Transfer from CWIP (Note 10.1) 2,598 - 2,598 -
Balance as at 31 December 2,598 - 2,598

Ernst & Young
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR ‘000 unless otherwise stated

19.1

19.2

19.3

19.4

Inventories

Fuel Inventory
Duty-frec goods
Spare parns

Food and beverage
Housckeeping

Less: Provision for slow moving inventories
Less: Provision for write-ofl

Trade and other receivables

Trade receivables

Provision for Impairment of trade receivables

Trade receivables from related parties (Note 30)

Provision for impainnent of receivables from related parties

Other receivables

Advances and prepayments

Tax receivables

Less: provision for impairment of other receivables (note 19.2)

Provision for impairment of trade receivables

Movement for the year
Balance at 1 January
Provision made dunng the year
As previously stated
Reclassificatic ( Note 19.3)
Balance at 31 December

Breakdown of provision for trade receivables
Provision for trade receivables - related parties
Provision for trade recervables - third party customers
As previously stated
Reclassificatio ( Note 19.3)
Balance at 31 December

Provision for impairment of other receivables

Movement for the year
Balance at | January
Reversal of provision/Provisions made during the year
As previously stated
Reclassificatic ( Note 19.3)
Written-o(T as uncollectable
Balance at 31 December

Group Company
2022 2021 022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
236,837 61,466 236,837 61,466
129,294 119,368 129,294 119.368
197,644 137,206 197,644 137,206
14,178 13,845 - &
6,474 4,643 - &
584,427 336,528 563,775 318,041
(1.614) (1,614) (1.614) (1.614)
(12,437) - (12,437) :
570,376 334,914 549,724 316,427
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
904,743 517,550 811,733 424,196
(201,719) (208,290) (151,162) (146,664)
844,121 412,253 844,121 410,458
(420,982) (170,451) (420,982) (170,451)
1,126,163 551,062 1,083,710 517,539
111,200 98,349 61,006 59,166
686,575 429,064 661,142 416,771
241,908 262,588 241,908 262,588
(44,846) (44,475) (44 846) (44,475)
2,121,000 1,296,588 2,002,921 1,211,590
Group Company
2022 2021 022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
377,526 228,651 317,115 191,725
243,960 193,112 255,029 169,627
- (44,237) - {44,237)
621,487 377,526 572,144 317,115
420,982 170,451 420,982 170.451
201,719 252,527 151,162 190,901
- (44,237) - (44,237)
621,487 377,526 572,144 317,115
Group Company
2022 2021 022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
44475 1,690 44,475 1,690
n (1,452) n (1,452)
- 44237 - 44237
44,846 44,475 44,846 44,475

Provision for impairement incorrectly classified under other receivables in previous year have been reclassified under trade receivables

Provision Matrix and Imoairment of Debtors

- Management has carricd out an impairment provision based on the simplified approach of ECL mcthod and considered 100% ECL for debtors aged

more than 90 days in determining the provision matrix for ECL.
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures arc in MVR ‘000 unless otherwise stated

Group Company
10  Financial assets at amortised cost 2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Short term:
Investments in treasury bills 561.896 228,964 561,896 228,964
Fixed deposits 71,222 146,885 - 79,143
633,118 375,849 561,896 308,107
Deposits are made for varying periods between three months 1o one year, depending on the i liate cash requi of the Group. and eam interest
ranging from 3.4% 10 4.5% per annum (2021 : 3 4% to0 4.5% per annum)
21 Cash and Bank balances
For the purposc of Statement of Cashflow, Cash and Bank balances compnises the following:
Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Cash in hand 227,048 24297 224,479 22,430
Cash at bank 733.067 1,490,006 636,178 1.305,775
960,115 1,514,303 860,657 1,328,204
22 Share capital Group / Company
Ordinary shares
Number of shares MVR
Al | January 2021 1,500 150,000
At 31 December 2021 1.500 150,000
At 31 December 2022 1,500 150,000

The total authorised number of ordinary shares is 5,000,000 shares (2021: 5,000,000 shares) with a par value of MVR 100 per share (2021: MVR 100 per
share). Of the above, 1,500,000 shares are issued and fully paid.

23 Other reserves Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
23.1 Revaluation reserve
Balance as at | January 491,458 497,265 491 458 497,265
Revaluation Surplus 19816 16,829 - 16,829
Adjustments (o Revaluation Reserve 79,521 - 79,521 -
Realised on usage and disposal (28,110) (23,661) (28,110) (23,661)
Adjustments to Revaluation Reserve - Tax (11,928) (2,524) (11,928) (2,524)
Deferred tax liability reversal on realised revaluation surplus on usage 4216 3,549 4216 3,549
Balance as at 31 December 554,973 491,458 535,157 491,458
23.2 Fair value reserve
Balance as at 31 December 10,386 10.386 - -
23.3 Foreign currency translation reserve
Balance as at 31 December 26,878 26,878 - -
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Year ended 31 December 2022
All figures are in MVR ‘000 unless otherwise stated

24  Non-controlling interest

Balance as at | January
Share of net profit of subsidiary
Balance as at 31 December

25  Loans and borrowings

Non-current

Borrowing from Government through MOF |
Borrowing from Government through MOF 2
Borrowing from Government through MOF 3
Borrowing from Government through MOF 4
Borrowing from Government through MOF 5
China Development Bank

Borrowing from Ministry of Finance

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (USD)
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) |
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 2
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 4

Less: Transaction cost
Total Non-Current

Current

Borrowing from Government through MOF |
Borrowing from Government through MOF 2
Borrowing from Government through MOF 3
Borrowing from Government through MOF 4
Borrowing from Government through MOF 5
China Development Bank

Borrowing from Ministry of Finance
Borrowing from Ministry of Finance

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (USD)
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 1
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 2
Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 4

Add: Interst Payable
Less: Transaction cost
Total Current

Total borrowings

Group
2022 2021
MVR MVR
466,292 435,065
49,646 31,227
515,938 466,292
Group / Company
2022 2021
MVR MVR
5,142,334 5,537,094
738,675 658,947
166,356 133,343
429,637 337948
438,720 330,541
545,365 621,633
- 16,962
202,445 246,500
155,973 236,505
225,031 309,624
185,953 -
8,230,489 8,429,097
(5,352) (4,660)
8,225,138 8,424,438
779.066 384,306
38,878 -
15,143 -
33,049 -
14,403 -
76,267 72,674
16,962 30,840
44,055 40,477
80,532 73,992
84,602 71,731
74,425 -
1,257,382 680,021
113,332 105,680
(2,225) (1,525)
1,368,490 784,176
9,593,627 9,208,614

Note: The interest payable and transaction costs of loans, which have been previously (in 2021) recorded as trade and other payables
and trade and other receivables respectively has been reclassified and included within the carrying amount of the loans (Refer Note

35 - Reclassification)
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

The fair values of the loans are based on the cash flow discounted using the following rates.

Loan

Description Provider of funds denominated  Interest rate % 2022 2021
currency

Borrowing from Government China Exim Bank
through MOF 1 usD 3.0% 5,999.859 5.998,635
Borrowing from Government Saudi Fund for
through MOF 2 Development UsSD 3.0% 747,492 666,339
Borrowing from Government Abu Dhabi Fund for
through MOF 3 Development usp 4.0% 168,393 134,859
Borrowing from Government OPEC Fund for Int'l
through MOF 4 Development USD 5.7% 441,287 346,658
Borrowing from Government Kuwait Fund for Arab )
through MOF 5§ Economic Development UsD 2.5% 438,720 335,382
China Development Bank  China Development Bank

UsD 2.9% 634,003 700,293
Borrowing from Ministry of Ministry of Finance
Finance UsD 5.0% = =
Borrowing from Ministry of Ministry of Finance
Finance UsD 6.0% 16,962 47,802
Bank of Maldives Plc - Bank of Maldives
Demand Loan (USD) usD 8.5% 246,500 286,978
Bank of Maldives Plc - Bank of Maldives
Demand Loan (MVR) | MVR 8.5% 234,512 307,779
Bank of Maldives Plc - Bank of Maldives
Demand Loan (MVR) 2 MVR 8.5% 306,966 383,888
Bank of Maldives Plc - Bank of Maldives
Demand Loan (MVR) 4 MVR 8.5% 257461 -

9,492,155 9,208,613
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Maldives Airports Company Limited

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
Year ended 31 December 2022

All figures are in MVR '000 unless otherwise stated

25 Loans and borrowings (Continued)

The carrying amounts of borrowings denominated in foreign currencies as follows:

2022 2021
UsD 563,762 545,478
MVR 798,939 697,852

25.1 Details of loans and borrowings

25.1.1 Borrowing from Government through MOF 1 - China Exim Bank

On 12 May 2016, The Government of Maldives (GOM) represented by Ministry of Finance (MOF) entered into a
Subsidiary Loan Agreement (SLA) with the company to on-lend USD 373,838,500 obtained through China Exim Bank
for new runway, fuel farm and cargo project. The approved loan amount of USD 373,838,500 has been fully disbursed as
at 31 December 2021. The loan has been guaranteed by the GOM and principal are to be paid in 30 equal semiannual
installments, whereby first repayment will commence on the first available payment date falling 5 years after date of
initial withdrawal. The interest charged for this facility is 3% p.a. payable on semiannual basis.-

25.1.2 Borrowing from Government through MOF 2 - Saudi Fund for Development (SFD)

On 30 January 2017, The GOM represented by MOF entered into a SLA with the company for financing Velana
International Airport updgrade project through Saudi Fund for Development for an amount of SAR 375,000,000 (USD
100,000,000). As at 31 December 2022, the on-lent amount by MOF at market prevailing rate is USD 50,424,947. This
loan has been received on the guarantee from the GOM. Repayment of the loan shall be made in 40 equal semiannual
instalments on 15 February and 15 August cach year and will commence on the first available payment date falling five
years after the initial withdrawal by the Company. The interest charged for this facility is 3% p.a.

25.1.3 Borrowing from Government through MOF 3 - Abu Dhabi Fund for Development (ADFD)

On 08 October 2018, The GOM represented by MOF entered into a SLA with the Company for financing expansion and
upgrading of Velana International Airport development project through Abu Dhabi Fund for Development for an amount
of AED 183,650,000 (USD 50,000,000). As at 31 December 2022, the on-lent amount by MOF at market prevailing rate
is USD 11,770,400. This loan has been received on the guarantee from the GOM. Repayment of the loan shall be made in
24 semi-annual instalments on 30 March and 30 September each year and will commence on the first available payment
date falling three years after the initial withdrawal by the Company. The interest charged for this facility is 4% p.a.

25.1.4 Borrowing from Government through MOF 4 - OPEC Fund for Int'l Development (OFID)

On 12 July 2017, The GOM represented by MOF entered into a SLA with the Company for financing expansion and
upgrading of Velana International Airport development project through OPEC Fund for International Development for an
amount of USD 50,000,000. As at 31 December 2022, the on-lent amount by MOF is USD 30,005,549. This loan has
been received on the guarantee from the GOM. Repayment of the loan shall be made in 28 semi-annual instalments on 15
January and 15 July each year and will commence on the first available payment date falling 4 years after the initial
withdrawal by the Company. The interest charged for this facility i1s 5.7% p.a. =
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25.1.5

25.1.6

25.1.7

1518

15.1.9

25.1.10

15.1.11

Borrowing from Government through MOF 5 - Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic Development (KFAED)

On 27 November 2017, The GOM represented by MOF entered into a SLA with the Company for financing expansion
and upgrading of Velana International Airport development project through Kuwait Fund for Arab Economic
Development for an amount of K.D 15,000,000 (USD 50,000,000). As at 31 December 2022, the on-lent amount by
MOF is USD 29,385,388. This loan has been reccived on the guarantee from the GOM. Repayment of the loan shall be
made in 32 semi-annual instalments on | January and | July each year and will commence on the first available payment
date falling 4 years after the initial withdrawal by the Company. The interest charged for this facility is 2.5% p.a

Term loan: China Development Bank (CDB)

On 03 July 2018, The Company had obtained a term facility from China Development Bank (CDB) for the purpose of
financing the Scaplane facilities development project. The total facility of this loan is USD 47,170,000 and has been fully
withdrawn as of 31 December 2020. The repayment of the loan shall be paid in twenty-one equal installments, paid semi-
annually, starting from March 2021. The interest charged for this facility is base 2.9%+LIBOR p.a As at the reporting
date, the outstanding loan amount is USD 40,313,407

Borrowing from Ministry of Finance

On 18 February 2021, The Company had obtained a loan from the Ministry of Finance for the purpose of financing
extension of time claims in the upgrading of the Velana International Airport development project. The total facility of
this loan is USD 3,100,000 which has been fully disbursed as of 31 December 2021. The interest charged for this facility
is 6% p.a and is to be repaid in two installments on 30 June 2022 and 30 June 2023. At the reporting date the balance of
the loan is USD 1,100,000.

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (USD)

The Company has obtained a demand loan from the bank of Maldives for the purposc of development and renovation
works of facilities in Velana International Airport. The total facility of this loan is USD 30,300,000 out of which has been
fully disbursed as at 31 December 2020. This loan has been obtained on 14 March 2017 and is to be repaid in 120
months in equal instalments. The interest charged for this facility is 8.5% p.a. payable on monthly basis. As at the
reporting date, the outstanding balance of the loan is USD 15,985,753.

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 1

On 12 August 2020, a MVR demand loan was obtained from the bank of Maldives for working capital support during the
outbreak of Covid 19. The total facility of this loan is MVR 362,370,000 and has been fully disbursed as of 31 December
2021. This loan has to be repaid in 60 months in equal instalments. The interest charged for this facility is 8.5% pa.
payable on monthly basis. As at the reporting date, the outstanding balance of the loan is MVR 236,504,842

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 2

On 23 May 2021, a second MVR demand loan was obtained from the bank of Maldives for working capital support The
total facility of this loan is MVR 400,00,000 and has been fully disbursed as of 31 December 2021. This loan has to be
repaid in 60 months in equal instalments. The interest charged for this facility is 8.5% p.a. payable on monthly basis As
at the reporting datc. the outstanding balance of the loan is MVR 309.632,771.

Bank of Maldives Plc - Demand Loan (MVR) 4

On 17th February 2022, a MVR demand loan was obtained from the bank of Maldives for working capital support. The
total facility of this loan is MVR 350,000,000. This loan has to be repaid in 60 months. The interest charged for this
facility is 8.5% p.a. payable on monthly basis. As at the reporting date, the outstanding balance of the loan is MVR
260,377,839
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26  Deferred tax liabilities

The analysis of deferred tax asscts and deferred tax liabilities is as follows

Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Deferred tax assets (159,604) (116,660) (146,769) (98,669)
Deferred tax habilities 83,438 28,841 78,058 28,841
(76,167) (87.819) (68,711) (69,828)

26.1 Deferred taxes are calculated on all temporary differences under the liability method using the effective tax rate of 15%. The movement in

deferred tax is as follows:

At 1 January (87,819) (50,586) (69.828) (35.957)
Charge to statement of Profit and Loss 2,080 (32,740) (3.075) (29.378)
Charge other comprehensive Income 1,861 (944) (3,519) (944)
Dchrr:d tax liability on revaluation reserve adjustment 11,928 11,928

fu:’ctilzsdcfcncd tax liability reversal on realised revaluation (4.216) (3.549) (4.216) (3.549)
At 31 December (76.167) (87.819) (68,711) (69.828)

The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities of the Group and Company during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting

balances arc as follows:

On property, plant and equipment 202,440 250,998 228,852 192,273
On right-of-use assets - (410 - -
On employee pension provision - - - -
On impairment of receivable (681,598) (301,578) (631,041) (363,204)
On defined benefits obligations (347,419) (294,590) (347,419) (294,590)
On revaluation gain 104,104 - 68,241 -
On interest capitalised in CWIP 223,295 - 223,295 -
On other provision (8.600) = = =

(507,778) (345,582) (458,073) (465,521)
Tax rate 15% 15% 15% 15%
Net deferred tax (asset) / liability (76,167) (51,837) (68,711)

/ Ernst & Young
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27 Employee retirement benefits obligations

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

MVR MVR MVR MVR
At | January 204,590 246.920 294,590 246,920
Current service cost 22,166 18915 22,166 18915
Interest charge 13,551 11,358 13,551 11,358
Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 23,460 23,123 23,460 23.123
353,767 300,316 353,767 300316
Less: payment during the year (6,348) (5,725) (6.348) (5,725)
Closing balance 347,419 294,590 347419 294,590

27.1 Following ameunts are recognized in profit or loss during the year in respect of retirement benefit obligation

Amount Recognized in Profit or Loss

Current service cost 22,166 18915 22,166 18915
Interest charge 13,551 11,358 13,551 11,358
35,717 30,273 35717 30273

Amount recognized in Other Comprehensive Income

Actuarial loss/(gain) on obligation 23,460 23,123 23,460 23,123
23,460 23,123 23,460 213,123
27.2 Assumptions used
2022 2021
Management level:
Discount rate 4.60% 460%
Expecied salary increment 239% 239%%
Staff turnover factor:
Up to 30 years 6.27% 6.27%
From 31 to 44 vears 2.07% 207%
Above 44 years 1.08% 1.08%
Operational level
Discount rate 4.60% 4.60%
Expected salary increment 3.54% 3.54%
Staff rumover factor:
Up to 30 yews 11.52% 11.52%
From 31 to 44 years 3.53% 3.53%
Above 44 years 2.50% 2.50%

27.3 The sensitivity of the defined benefit obligation to ch in the weighted principal assumptions is:

Impact on defined benefit obligation

Change in Increase in Decrease in
ption (%) plion sump
2022 2022
MVR MVR
Discount rate 0.50% (19,591) 21,508
Salary growth rate 0.50% 21,938 (20,134)

The liability for defined benefit obligations is not externally funded

The retirement benefit obligation of the Group/Company s estimated bascd on the calculation performed by the actuarial
valuer (Charan Gupta Consultants Pvt Ltd.). The projected unit credit method is used to determine the maturity analysis,
weighted average useful life and present value of the defined benefit obligation

27.4 Distribution of Employee Benefit Obligation over Future Working Lifetime

Group/Company

2022 2022

MVR MVR
0100l Year 17.867 12521
01 10 02 Year 15,551 13.187
02to 03 Year 17,838 15,126
03 to 04 Year 15,098 12,803
04 10 05 Year 11,320 9.599
05 to 06 Year 11,963 10,144
06 Ycar onwards 257,782 221,212

347,419 IN& D

Weighted average duration of the projecied benefit obligation (years) 17 I% \
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27

28

28.1

29

Employee retirement benefits obligations (continued)

Sensitivitics duc to mortality and withdrawals arc not material and hence impact of change due to these were not calculated.

The above sensitivity analyses arc based on a change in an assumption whilc holding all other assumptions constant. In practice, this
is unlikely to occur, and changes in some of the assumptions may be correlated. When calculating the sensitivity of the defined
benefit obligation to significant assumptions the same method (present value of the defined benefit obligation calculated with the
projected unit credit method at the end of the reporting period) has been applied as when calculating the defined benefit liability
recognised in the balance sheet.

Trade and other payables Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

MVR MVR MVR MVR
Trade payables 411,666 264315 365,831 251,446
Amounts due to related parties (Note 29) 169,622 109,232 193,162 110,504
Accrued expenses 71,684 24,397 62,021 14,610
Accrued compensation payable 239,697 15,323 239,697 15,323
Other payables 886,479 392,065 866,535 374,239
Advance received 219 - 219 -
Passenger service fee payable 6,977 4,385 6,977 4,385

1,786,344 809,717 1,734,442 770,507

The amount due to related parties are unsecured, interest free and has no fixed repayment period. Accordingly the entire amount due
have been shown as falling due within one year.

Other payables of the Company mainly includes retention amounting to MVR 202,872,760 (2021: MVR 162,910,188), i advance
received from customers amounting to MVR 96,512,737 (2021 : MVR 45,530,115) and dividend payable to shareholders
amounting to MVR 537,508,708 (2021: MVR 129,948,709)

During the year 2022, the company has agreed to pay to Beijing Urban Construction Group a sum of MVR 371,591,160 for
additional cost associated with Extention of Time granted for the Runway Project. Accordingly the amount has been accounted as an
expenditure for the year ended 3 1st December 2022.

Contract liabilities Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR
Short-term advances from customers 112,103 58,559 108,213 58,559
112& 58,559 108,213 58,559
Current 112,103 58,559 108,213 58,559
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30  Related party transactions

The Group is controlled by the Government of Maldives which owns 100%0 of the Company's shares.

The Company holds a 33.33% interest and has a joint control over Airport Investments Maldives Private Limited. There were
no transactions with the Airport Investments Maldives Private Limited dunng the year. Interests in joint venture is set out in
note 15

The following transactions were carried out with subsidiary and Government related entitics. The transactions below were
made in the ordinary course of business on substantially the same terms, including. aero and non aero transactions as for
comparable transactions with unrelated counterparties

Group Company
i) Sales of goods and services 2022 2021 2022 2021
MVR MVR MVR MVR

Maldives Inflight Catering Pvt Lid - - 51,030 48213
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 5017 3,212 5,017 3212
Dhivehi Raajjeyge Gulhun Plec (Dhiraagu) 3,027 3,068 3,027 3,068
Island Aviation Services Limited 541,392 281,504 541,392 281,504
Maldives National Defense Force 4,036 4,246 4,036 4,246
State Trading Organization Plc 16,702 15,786 16,702 15,786
Aviation Security Command 1,021 894 1,021 894
Pcople’s Majlis Secretariat 1,097 671 1,097 671
Maldives Meteorological Service 1,250 1,257 1,250 1,257
Business Centre Corporation Limited 2,739 2,002 2,739 2,002
Addu International Airport Pvt Ltd 995 1,162 995 1,162
Other Government undertakings 6,905 4,269 6,905 4,269

584,183 3!&07! 635,213 36&184
ii) Purchases of goods and services
Dhivehi Raajjeyge Gulhun Plc (Dhiraagu) 98,568 10,198 98,568 10,198
Island Aviation Services Limited 125,463 607 125,463 607
Maldives Customs Service 195411 94 880 195411 94,880
Maldives Transport and Contracting Company 275,397 11,057 275,397 11,057
State Trading Organisation Plc 3,066,418 1,439,377 3,066,418 1,439,377
Male' Water & Sewerage Company Pvt. Ltd. 12,305 15,447 12,305 15,447
State Electric Company Limited - 1,271 - 1271
Maldives Civil Aviation Authonty - 740 - 740
Housing Development Corporation Limited 190,514 24,700 190,514 24,700
Maldives Islamic Bank Plc 25,198 21,038 25,198 21,038
Wastc Management Corporation Limited 16,881 6,846 16,881 6,846
Maldives Inflight Catering Pvt Ltd - - 26,527 6,254
Maldives Inland Revenue Authority 447,804 - 447,804 -
Maldives Pension Administration Office 52,103 - 52,103 -
Other Government undertakings 183,319 1,240 183,319 1,240

4 &é’l 1,627,400 4,715,907 1,633,654

iii) Year-end outstanding balances
Receivable from related parties: :
SATS Limited - 1,795 - -
Island Aviation Services Limited 769,694 351,605 769,694 351.605
Ministry of Finance 192 266 192 266
Ministry of Foreign Affairs 674 1,960 674 1,960
Maldives National Defense Force 1,678 1,492 1,678 1,492
Maldives Inflight Catering Pvt Ltd 51,405 36,277 51,405 36,277
Maldives Post Limited 2,767 2,766 2,767 2,766
State Trading Organization Plc 3,352 4,589 3,352 4,589
Dhivehi Raajjeyge Gulhun Plc (Dhiraagu) 2,831 2,749 2,831 2,749
Addu International Airport Pvt Ltd 3,503 2,557 3,503 2,557
Ministry of Health 1,265 1,407 1,265 1,407
Business Centre Corporation Limited 903 868 903 868 =,
Other Government undertakings 5,857 3,922 5.857 3,922

8“_‘111 41 ZE_JL 844121 410,458
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30  Related party transactions (continued) Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
iv) Payable to related parties: MVR MVR MVR MVR
Maldives Inflight Catering Pvt Ltd - - 23,539 1,272
State Trading Organisation Plc 75,321 53,704 75,321 53,704
Maldives Transport and Contracting Company Plc
20,384 895 20,384 895
Island Aviation Services Limited 1,254 2,905 1,254 2,905
Dhivehi Raajjege Gulhun Pyt 1,518 857 1,518 857
Maldives Customs Service 56,370 17,519 56,370 17,519
Housing Development Corporation Limited - 24,700 - 24,700
Maldives Islamic Bank Plc - 1,935 - 1,935
Male' Water & Sewerage Company Pvt. Ltd. 5 5,635 5 5,635
Waste Management Corporation Limited 729 600 729 600
Maldives Inland Revenue Authority 7,855 - 7,855 B
Other Government undertakings 6,187 482 6,187 482
169,622 109,232 193,162 110,504

v) Key management personnel compensation

The Board of Directors of the Group are members of the key management personnel.

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021
Emoluments and fees 1,038 980 1,038 771
1,038 980 1,038 771

31  Capital commitments 2022 2021

Development projects:

Short-term commitments - less than 12 months 2,916,851 4,452,424
Long-term commitments - over 12 months 3,667,994 449 557
Total commitment towards Development Projects 6,584,845 4,901,980

The commitments are financed by Subsidiary loan agreements with Ministry of Finance which has been pre-approved.

32  Events after the reporting period

No other events have occurred since the reporting date, which would require adjustments to, or disclosure in, the financial=———==
statements.

Ernst & Young
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Financial risk management

Financial risk factors

The Group's activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign exchange risk), credn nisk.
liquidity risk and cash flow and fair value interest rate risk. The Group's overall risk management programme focuses on
the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on the Group's financial
performance

Risk management is carricd out by the Board of Directors on specific arcas such as forcign exchange risk, credit risk and
hquidity nsk.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign exchange risk

The Group's operations arc exposcd to forcign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures Foreign exchange
risk ariscs from future commercial transactions and recognized asscts and liabilitics. The company has a substantial portion
of its revenue realised in United States Dollar. Currency exposure arising from the import of capital items and other
materials are presently met out of revenue received in United States Dollars.

The Group's exposure to foreign currency risk at the end of the reporting period was as follows:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021

USS SGD USs SGD
Cash and cash equivalents 36.531 - 81.904 .
Trade and other receivables 18,291 - 6,249 -
In in fixed dep 4,619 - 9,526 -
Trade and other payables (115,846) - (59.364) -
Borrowings (563,762) - (545.478) .

(620,168) - (507,163) -

Sensitivity analysis

5 percent strengthening/ weakening of Maldivian Rufiyaa against United States Dollars and Singapore Dollar as at 31
December 2022 and 31 December 2021, would have increased/ decreased profit by the amount shown below, based on the
Group's monetary assets and liabilities. The analy that all other variables remain constant.

Strengthening  Weakening

31 December 2022

USS$ 5% movement (478,149) 478,149
SGD 5% movement = -
31 December 2021

USS 5% movement (391,022) 391,022
SGD 5% movement - i
Financial risk factors

Average rate As at 31 December
2022 2021 2022 2021

| MVR: SGD 0.0902 0.0902 0.0859 0.0859
| MVR: USD 0.0649 0.0649 0.0649 0.0649

In respect of the monetary assets and liabilities denominated in USS, the Group has a limited currency exposure on such
balances since the Maldivian Rufiyaa is pegged to the USS within a band to fluctuate within +/- 20% of the mid-point of
exchange ratc.

(ii) Cash flow and fuir value interest rate risk

The Group has short-term deposits with commercial banks and in ts in Go treasury bills, which are the
interest bearing assets. The Group also has fixed interest bearing borrowings. The Group does not have any control aver
interest rate or any hedge instrument to manage the risk ansing out of fixed interest rate /

/ﬂﬂ Ernst & Young
_ -"‘.? Chartered Accountants
s Malé , Maldives
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Financial risk management (continued)
(b) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk 2 implies mai ing sufficient cash and marketable secunties, the availability of funding through an adequate amount
of committed credit facilities and the ability to close out market positions. The Group aims to maintain liquidity by keeping adequate cash and short-term
deposits in banks

The table below analyses the Group's financial liabilitics into relevant matunty groupings based on the remasning period at the reporting date to the
contractual maturity date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows

Group

e T Y ity Between 3 months Between 1 to Between 210 5 More than S
At 31 December 2022 and 1 Year 2 Years Years Years
Trade and other payables 1,737,044 18,414 - - -
Borrowings 700,506 501,849 658,749 2,217,524 5,117,988
Lease Liability 9478 28,433 77,705 134,927 505,091
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 915,397 - - - -
Borrowings 273,500 406,520 748,450 1,879,677 5,800,971
Lease Liability 6,407 29,660 37911 90,776 632,958
Company
At 31 December 2022 . Between 3 months Between I to Between 2to 5 More than 5

and | Year 2 Years Years Years

Trade and other payables 1,734 442 - - -
Borrowings 700,506 501.849 658,749 2217524 5.117,988
Leasc Liability 3,081 9.243 5.666 2,930 -
At 31 December 2021
Trade and other payables 876,187 - - -
Borrowings 273,500 406,520 748,450 1,879,677 5,800,971
Lease Liability 3,865 11,595 12,325 8,596 -

(c) Credit risk

Credit risk arises from cash and cash equivalents, contractual cash flows of debt investments camied at amortised cost, at fair value through other
comprehensive income (FVOCI) and at fair value through profit or loss (FVPL), and deposits with banks and financial institutions, as well as credn
exposures to ordinary customers, including outstanding reccivables.

(i) Risk management

Most of the aero customers are reputed airlines with the global presence and non aero customer mainly includes government related SOEs. If there is no

independent rating, risk control assesses the credit quality of the customer, taking into tits fi | position, past experience and other factors
The compliance with credit limits by customers is regularly monitored by linc g
(ii) Security

For some trade receivables the Group obtains security in the form of bank guarantees and cash deposits. 1.¢ bank guarantee vary for | to 3 months,
which can be called upon if the counterparty is in default under the terms of the agreement.

(1) Impairment of financial assets

The Group has following financial assets that arc subject to [FRS 9's expected credit loss model

- Trade receivables - others and related parties

- Other receivables

- Other financial assets at amortised cost

- Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income (FYOCH
- in fixed deposits and treasury bills

- Cash and cash equivalents

While investment in financial assets at fair value through other comp ¢ income (FVOCI), investment in fixed deposits, treasury bills, other
financial asscts at amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents arc also subject to the impairment requirements of IFRS 9, the wdentified impairment
losses were immatenal.

Ernst & Young
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13 Fi ial risk (continued)

- Trade receivables - others and related parties

The Group applies the IFRS 9 simplified approach of measuring expected credit losses which uses a lifetime expected loss
allowance for all tradc receivables.

To measure the expected credit losses, trade reccivables have been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics and the past
expenence on recovery and default.

- Trude recervables - others and related parties (continued)

The expected loss rates are based on the payment profiles of sales over a period of 60 months and 48 months before 31 December
2022 or 31 December 2021 respectively and the corresponding histonical credit losses expenienced within this period. The historical
loss rates are adjusted by a loss allowance matrix developed by the Group considering the macrocconomic factors affecting the
ability of the 10 settle the bies. The Group has selected GDP of the region/ country of the customer and/ or jet fuel
price 10 be most relevant factors. Accordingly developed a loss allowance mainx based on expected changes in the GDP of the
region/ country and/ or jet fuel price and applied 1o the historical loss rates

On that basis, the loss alk ¢ of the Company as at 31 Dy ber 2022 and 31 December 2021 was determined as follows for
trade receivables that were subjected to expected credit loss calculation

Scheduled airlines

Past due less  Between 31 days Between 61 days More than 50

Current Total
11st December 2022 thaa 30 days and 60 days and 90 days days past due
Expected loss rate 06% 16% 44% 6.2% 8.9%
Groks caryiag amous - 120.456 27,632 10,972 6,534 51,513 217.107
trade receivables
Loss allowance 736 429 480 406 4,585 6,636
Past due less Between 31 days Between 61 days More than 90
Current Total
than 30 da da and 90 da da; t due
315t December 2021 s amiAb e v 7S B
Expeciced loss rate 0.3% 08% 25% 3% 6.0%
Grosi. Carmy g wmoniL. 33782 30,288 10,547 9,449 21,717 105,783
trade receivables
Loss asllowance 105 255 264 352 1,297 2274
Non-scheduled sirlines
Past due less Between 31 days Between 61 days More than 90
Total
Currcat  \on30dsys  and 60 days and 90 days  days past due b
31st December 2021
Expecied loss rate 1% 44% 63% 85% 100%%
Gross camrying avsoei 25,104 282 a8 st 65,503 90,988
trade receivables
Loss allowance 2,669 125 30 43 64,992 67,859
Past due less Between 31 days Between 61 days More than 90
Current Total
and 90 da da due
st ember 2021 than 30 days and 60 days ys ys past
Expected loss rate 17% 53% 74% 102% 100%
Cireis carvying smomnt. - 2,751 2,213 1,727 929 59,900 67,520
trade receivables
Loss allowance 453 1,170 1,270 939 59,358 63,19
Non-aero
Current Past due less Between 31 days Between 61 days More than 90 Total
Sl s 2002 - than 30 days  and 60 days and 90 days  days past due
Expecied loss rate 27% 32% 60% 84% 100%
Groas caying st - 84.323 51,687 9,383 6.632 90,448 242474
trade receivables —m
Loss allowance 19,251 14,108 4,817 4,807 77,921 120,904 p
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i3 Financial risk management (continued)

Non-aero (continued)
Between 31 Between 61
P
Current n:::::{ dl:“ days and 60 days and 90 :m &";” Total
31st December 2021 ve days days V¥ pestiine
Expected loss rate 24% 31% 67% 96% 100%
Gross carrying amount
trade receivables 6,061 25,152 18,214 12,724 57,040 119,191
Loss allowance 1,302 6,896 10,941 10,904 51,158 81,200
Related parties - state owned enterprises
Between 31 Between 61
Current :’::: :;' 15 daysand60  daysand %0 :':" ':'l':l:" Total
31st December 2022 i days days i
Expected loss rate 91% 92% 97% 102% 100%
Gross camying amount -
i recchvables 22,562 39,221 46,423 47,291 614,196 769,694
Loss allowance 11,059 19,491 24,188 26,052 330,683 411,474
Between 31 Between 61
Current ::" ::'dl:“ days and 60 days and 90 ::m lh:nd:O Total
31st December 2021 il Vs days days Y2 past fue
Expected loss rate 13% 16% 45% 75% 93%
KNGS SO DO 4234 39,755 37,629 18,627 253,480 383,725
trade receivables
Loss allowance 1,898 18,041 18,382 9,889 122,241 170.451

- Receivables from Government Ministries and Departments

Receivables from Government Ministries and Departments consist of other receivables and portion of trade recewvables from
related parties. The Company assesses the credit quality of its receivables Government Ministries and Departments taking into
account their financial position, past experience and other factors. The Company is dealing with Government Mumistries and
Departments and has not experienced historical credit losses during the past years Therefore, expecied credit loss allowance for
reccivables Government Ministries and Departments were determined by considering the loss of time value of money. The
Company management calculated the cxpected credit losses on these assets by discounting the future cash flows using the
Company's weighted average cost of capital.

On that basis, the Company’s the loss allowance for reccivables from Government Ministries and Departments as at 31 December
2022 and 31 December 2021 were as follows:

31 December 2022 31 December 2021
Gross carrying amount 9,541 7411
Loss allowance 336 238

33.2  Capital risk management

The Group's objectives when managing capital arc to safeguard the Group's ability 1o continuc a5 a going concern in order to
provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost
of capital

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of dividends payable to shareholders, 1ssuc
new shares or sell assets 10 reduce debt

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. This ratio is calculated as net debt divided by total capital. Net debt is
calculated as total borrowings (including trade and other payable) less cash and cash equivalents. Total capital is calculated as
‘equity’, as shown in the consolidated statement of financial position, plus net debt

Ernst & Young
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34

Capital risk management (Continued)

The gearing ratios at 31 December 2022 and 31 December 2021 were as follows:

Group Company

2022 2021 2022 2021

MVR MVR MVR MVR
Total borrowings (Notc 24) 9,593,627 9,208,614 9,593,627 9,208,614
Trade and other payables (Note 27) 1,786,344 809,717 1,734,442 770,507
Less: Cash and cash equivalents (Note 20) (960,113) (1,514.303) (860,657) (1,528,204)
Net debt 10,419,857 8,504,028 10,467,413 8,650,916
Total equity 8,146,246 7,984,692 6,662,825 6,643,116
Total capital 18,566,103 16,488,720 17,130,238 15,294,032
Gearing ratio 56% 52% 61% 57%

No changes were made in the objectives, policics or processes for managing capital during the year.

Contingencies

Contingent liabilities

There were no other contingent liabilities as at the reporting date which require disclosure in the financial statements.

Contingent assets

There are no matenial contingent assets recognized at the reporting date.

-50-
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Group Company
2022 2021 2022 2021
i Costof sales MVR MVR MVR MVR
Fuel cost 2917854 1,372,818 2,917,854 1.372,818
Duty-free cost of goods sold 299,377 293,640 299377 293,640
Employee benefit expenses (iv) 533,880 396,981 517,561 381,254
Depreciation (i11) 180,742 100,048 180,742 100,048
Cost of residential apartments sold 314,897 - 314,897 -
Other operating supplies 60,027 38310 6,242 5,105
4,306,777 2,201,797 4,236,673 2,152,865
ii  Administrative expenses
Depreciation on property, plant and cquipment (Note i) 180,994 140,693 151.647 110327
Depreciation on investment properties (Note | 1) 14,172 6,307 14,172 6,307
Depreciation of - right-of-use asset 14,478 20,160 11,630 10,665
Depreciation of Grant Asset 197,468 197,468 197.468 197.468
Amortisation on Intangible asset (Note 13) 5,246 4,789 5,124 4,659
Employee benefit expense (Note iv) 578,975 408,368 512,875 379.673
Repair and maintenance 65,605 64,678 60,516 60,451
Insurance 29411 34223 27.905 33,250
Communication expenses 14,804 13,302 11,557 11,284
Fuel and consumables 148,517 103,251 148,222 103,251
Professional fees 7,575 8,839 7,246 8482
Legal fees and expenscs 2,099 1,357 1,596 871
Travelling expenses 2135 1,284 2,023 1.284
Bank charges and commission 15,440 13,373 14,771 12,616
License charges 4,195 2,234 3,765 2,152
Impon duty and freight charges 2,557 5,520 2,557 5,520
Subscription expensc 20,143 21,401 19,314 21,401
Functions and cclebration expense 1,866 648 1,866 648
Printing and stationaries 6,462 4,058 5,801 3,803
Garbage disposal charges 7.787 21,600 7,787 21.600
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment 56,849 789 56,849 789
EOT claim by contractors (Note 28.1) 411,683 - 411,683 -
Exchange loss 3,354 966 3,354 966
Expected credit losses of trade receivables 255,400 191,661 255,400 168,175
Health and safety expenses 2,480 6,271 2,480 6,271
Other admunstrative expenses 145,352 57,638 94,267 15,467
2,195,050 1,330,877 2,031,875 1,187,380
iii Depreciation expenses classified as;
Administrative expenses (i) 180,994 140,693 151,647 110,327
Cost of sales and operating supplics (1) 180,742 100,048 180,742 100,048
361,735 240,741 332,389 210,378
iv Employee benefit expense
Salaries and wages 856,633 673,531 796,558 643,148
Staff welfare 20,923 3.780 2.606 3.521
Overtime 33,008 20,554 33,008 17,060
Pension fund contribution 26,416 21,464 26416 20,815
Staff transportation expenses 15,299 18,105 15,299 16,753
Training and development 14,788 6,124 14,788 6.064
Employee health insurance 13,453 11.602 13.453 11.530
Amortisation of deffered staff benefit 5,609 - 5.609 -
Employee retirement benefits expenses 35,7117 30,273 35.717 30,273
Other benefits 91,009 19.915 86,982 11,764
1,112,855 805,349 1,030,436 760,927
Employee benefit expenses classified as;
Administrative expenscs (1) 578,975 408,368 512,875 379,673
Cost of sales and operating supplies (1) 533,880 396,981 517,561 381,254
1,112,855 805,349 1,030,436 760,927
v Selling and marketing costs
Advcrtising costs 1,992 1,071 1,992 1,071
Other distribution costs 3,533 4.039 - -
5,525 5.110 1,992 1,071
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